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JUL-17

JUL-17

JUL-17

AUG-17 AOA delivers comprehensive AOA 21 briefing to New Zealand 
Orthopaedic Association, who subsequently adopt AOA 21

SEP-17 Diversity Workshop brings a representative group of 24 
members together to discuss the best ways to support 
increasing the diversity of the Australian orthopaedic workforce

OCT-17 AOANJRR highlighted in major Australian media, celebrating 
the work of the Registry and of AOA’s members in reducing 
rates of revision hip and knee surgery

OCT-17 In the context of seeking to raise greater awareness of all that a 
career in orthopaedics can offer, five female doctors visit a girls’ 
school in South Australia, alongside the Travelling Exhibition of 
Orthopaedics in Australia, to talk about their careers

OCT-17 Two female members, Alison Taylor and Kate Stannage, 
become heads of subspecialty societies – the Australian 
Orthopaedic Foot and Ankle Society and the Australian 
Paediatric Orthopaedic Society, respectively

FEB-18 The first cohort commences the AOA 21 Training Program 
following their attendance at the second annual Bone Camp KE
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KEY HIGHLIGHTS
2017 – 2018

Board approves national AOANJRR Patient Reported 
Outcome Measures (PROMs) trial

Director education session delivered to VIC Branch
Executive

AOA achieves first position in Google results for ‘AOA’ and 
‘orthopaedic surgeon’, reflecting the Association’s better-
optimised online presence
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FEB-18 Collaboration regarding AOA’s implementation of the 
Mentoring Program commences through discussion groups 
with members at state branch ASMs

FEB-18 RACS President John Batten and CEO Mary Harney meet with 
AOA Executive on a national ‘listening tour’ of all specialties

FEB-18

MAR-18

APR-18 In a first, at an AOA strategic planning workshop, invited 
female AOA members and the RACS CEO and President join 
the AOA Board in shaping the future of AOA

APR-18 After months of consultation and development, the AOA 
Diversity Strategic Plan approved at a historic board meeting 
including active contribution of 10 female members 

MAY-18 The AOA Clinical Quality Interim Committee, a committee of the
Board, meets for the first time.

MAY-18 AOANJRR automated industry reporting system launched

JUN-18

JUN-18 Selection interview panels average 50 per cent  
female members

JUN-18 AOA CEO joins RACS CEO and President in meeting with 
Federal Minister for Health, highlighting the strength of the 
renewed relationship between AOA and the College
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Ethics Implementation Workshop held at VIC Branch ASM  
in Lorne – the first of a number of workshops seeking 
member engagement in the implementation of the AOA 
Ethical Framework

Community awareness of orthopaedics raised through AOA 
CEO’s partication in sixth consecutive annual OzHarvest CEO
CookOff

The Travelling Exhibition of Orthopaedics moves from Cairns 
Hospital to Royal Darwin Hospital, continuing the third year of
is  journey across metropolitan and regional Australia. 
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JUN-18 Major public health insurer reverses decision to reduce 
patient choice after persistent advocacy by AOA and others in 
the health sector

JUN-18 AOANJRR more strongly represented than any other registry 
at the International Society of Arthroplasty Registries meeting 
in Reykjavik, Iceland

JUL-18

JUL-18 PROMs trial launched, having grown during planning and 
development to include more than 50 hospitals and all states 
and territories

JUL-18 AOA CEO, with enthusiastic Board approval, stewards 
the development and launch of the Australian Consensus 
Framework for Ethical Collaboration in the Healthcare Sector 
(ACF), bringing together over 60 participants from across the 
provider and patient communities and gaining support and 
endorsement from every state and territory and from the 
Federal Minister for Health

JUL-18 Australia receives APEC Lighthouse Award in Tokyo in 
recognition of AOA’s chairing position in the development of 
the ACF and its potential as a model for other nations

JUL-18

JUL-18 Onsite childcare at the 2018 AOA ASM announced – available 
for the first time

JUL-18 AOA Strategic Plan 2019–2021  approved at Board following 
broad and extensive member consultation
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AOA Conference and Events Management delivers the largest 
continuing orthopaedic education event to date (combined
with the Asia-Pacific Knee, Arthroscopy and Sports Medicine
Society), with over 800 delegates and four concurrent sessions

AOA Research Foundation Strategic Plan 2018–2023  
launched, outlining the vision and core strategies for the 
Foundation’s next five years
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INTRODUCTION

October 2017 brought the full realisation of the role as AOA President. I still 
grapple with the best means by which to fulfil my responsibility. Our Constitution 
defines a 12-month presidential term; however, I believe that a two-year term 
would be more fulfilling and create a greater sense of commitment. This would 
carry significantly greater personal and professional impost.

ETHICAL FRAMEWORK 

12 months of intense discussion facilitated by The Ethics Centre bore the 
fruits of the AOA Ethical Framework, with its purpose, values and principles. 
It is a tool to facilitate member engagement, as it has been embedded within 
AOA 21 foundation competencies, trainer-education modules, and at every 
committee and policy-review meeting by specifically mentioning the associated 
values and principles applicable to the discussion at hand.

It has stimulated feedback from some members, many of whom are  
concerned with a small number of colleagues’ compromising professional 
behaviour, emphasising their strong desire for AOA to highlight inappropriate  
professional activity including advertising, egregious surgical fees and 
questionable billing practice.

Whilst AOA will establish a code of ethical practice, it behoves all members 
to champion good behaviour and become empowered to question poor 
behaviour. The aim is to develop AOA culture, rather than provide a list of 
inappropriate behaviours within a policy document. Providing the opportunity 
for mentorship, with the assistance of the AOA-developed Mentoring Program, 
supports this culture development.

AOA 21

2018 is a milestone year that sees the Federal Training Committee, assisted by 
many committee members, commence implementing AOA 21. AOA allocated 
considerable resources for AOA 21’s development. It is an exciting period for all 
members, including trainees, who now have a well-defined curriculum, a work- 
and app-based assessment program, a nationally coordinated Bone School, an 
improved selection process and defined flexibility of training. 

It is no mistake that AOA 21 is world recognised and that AOA’s experiences are 
sought internationally.

Class-leading surgical training, 
assessment and professional standards 
have launched AOA’s international 
profile. AOA’s thirst for improvement 
ensures future viability.

President – Lawrence Malisano
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DIVERSITY STRATEGY

The AOA Board invited a broad cross section of 
female members to the April Board meeting to 
discuss and ultimately approve AOA’s Diversity 
Strategic Plan. In doing so, AOA has established 
aspirational goals, with unanimous agreement that 
selection, assessment and progression through 
training will be meritorious in nature.

I am very grateful to the female members who 
contributed to these meetings, taking leave from 
their busy professional and family lives to facilitate 
discussion. There is much to accomplish, and we 
must remember that diversity is much more than 
gender alone, as engagement of ethnic and minority 
groups requires attention.

Some members have voiced concerns regarding 
AOA’s Diversity Strategic Plan. My experience is 
that these concerns are fuelled by misinformation 
and eased by respectful discussion. It has been a 
requirement of the 2018 AMC review of AOA’s
 training that diversity and flexibility of training 
be progressed.

ADVOCACY AND SUSTAINABILITY

There has been recent media focus on the healthcare 
sector, with, in particular, increased scrutiny of 
wasteful, excessively costly and poorly selected 
aspects of healthcare provision. I see this as an 
opportunity for AOA to stand as champions of patient 
care by facilitating the purpose, values and principles 
of the Ethical Framework.

Recent media attention was driven by a private health 
insurance company misrepresenting the surgical 
profession and attempting to control patients’ 
freedom to select their preferred doctor and/or 
healthcare facility. AOA responded with concerns 
as to how this management of patient care may 
affect patient wellbeing and may well lead to poorer 
healthcare outcomes. 

AOA members participated widely in the 2018 MBS 
Review and provided input to the Health Minister’s 
Advisory Committee and to Federal Minister for 
Health, the Honourable Greg Hunt MP, into out-of-
pocket expenses. AOA has also been in a position to 
correct media misinformation regarding workforce 
issues, professional behaviour and professional 
integrity with respect to interaction with the medical 
device industry.

There is a link between these questions and the 
sustainability of healthcare in Australia. AOA holds an 
enviable position, able to interact with all providers 
of healthcare, provide perspective to discussions and 
positively influence all parties at all levels.

RACS/AOA RELATIONSHIP

I am delighted to report progressive strengthening 
of bonds and collegiate, professional interactions 
between AOA and RACS. Positive AOA and RACS 
interactions are a result of a respectful dialogue and 
have achieved much to realise mutually acceptable 
goals within professional standards and education 
portfolios. These interactions extend across the 
professional standards, education and Board of 
Surgical Education and Training committees. There are 
many examples of shared experiences, respect and 
advocacy initiatives. 

Whilst it is a coincidence that both AOA and RACS are 
formulating their 2019–2021 strategic plans in 2018, 
it provides a unique opportunity to align strategic 
focus. AOA recognised this opportunity and, in 
an unprecedented, historic gesture, approached 
RACS President John Batten and CEO Mary Harney, 
who, along with a representative group of female 
orthopaedic surgeons, attended AOA’s strategic 
planning weekend in April. The relationship continues 
to mature with a synergy to improve the community 
impact and advocacy of both organisations.

MEMBERSHIP SURVEY

Annual membership surveys allow AOA to integrate 
members’ opinion into a considered future board, 
management-planning and strategic focus. The 
2018 survey revealed ongoing interest in education 
and standards, advocacy, research and AOA’s Asia-
Pacific strategy. 

Members identify opportunities to promote 
physician wellbeing as highly important, recognising 
the potential impact on patient care.

LOCAL AND INTERNATIONAL 
RELATIONSHIPS

A primary focus of my year was to engage the 
membership. Unfortunately, the number of meetings 
results in conflicts of time, with the personally 
disappointing situation that I was unable to attend 
the TAS Branch Annual Scientific Meeting in June 
and the NSW Branch ASM in August. I am indebted 
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to David Martin and Andrew Ellis for their support 
in representing AOA at these meetings. It was my 
pleasure to be the guest at the Spine Society of 
Australia ASM, which provided a valuable insight into 
relationships with our learned subspecialty societies.

I have represented AOA at four overseas meetings. 
At the New Zealand Orthopaedic Association ASM 
in October 2017 I provided an update to trainers and 
membership on AOA 21. This has since progressed 
favourably to the extent of exchange and assistance 
with AOA 21 implementation.

My second meeting was the American Academy 
of Orthopaedic Surgeons (AAOS) Meeting in New 
Orleans in February 2018. This was the second 
occasion on which AOA was invited to speak at the 
World Opinion Forum – a closed, president invitation 
meeting. I presented the processes by which AOA 
has influenced local and federal health politics, 
and examples of success. AOA was subsequently 
referenced and approached by several AAOS 
members throughout the remainder of the meeting.

The Canadian Orthopaedic Association was held 
in Victoria, Vancouver Island, in late June. I was 
asked about the innovation that most influenced 
my practice in the past decade. I thought of 
many things, but quickly realised that the AOA 
National Joint Replacement Registry (AOANJRR) 
was a major factor not only for improving my 
own practice and patient outcomes, but also for 
orthopaedic surgeons and patients of all countries. 
The presentation was enthusiastically received 
and stimulated questions and discussion. Other 
presidents requested my presentation.

This was followed by the American Orthopaedic 
Association meeting. I represented AOA at a 
round-table discussion entitled ‘The Concussion 
Conundrum’ – an opportunity to highlight Australian 
data regarding mild sports-related traumatic brain 
injury including admission rates to hospitals, public 

perceptions, research into the brain forces sustained, 
incidence and impact in rugby union and league 
for both men and women. The forum was attended 
by orthopaedic surgeons responsible for major 
US league teams who expressed appreciation of 
the nuances as applied to rugby in Australia. I also 
presented the Curriculum and monitoring and 
assessment strategies of AOA 21 to the Council of 
Residency Directors, who have enthusiastically sought 
ongoing interaction with AOA.

CONCLUSION

AOA is fortunate to have robust, class-leading 
governance and procedural practice. The skills and 
experience provided by fellow board members 
is outstanding, and create a harmonious working 
environment, facilitated by dedicated, diligent 
staff, under the expert stewardship of AOA CEO 
Adrian Cosenza.

I am particularly grateful to the AOA membership 
for this wonderful opportunity to represent 
members locally and nationally, as well as on 
the international stage. It is humbling and 
exhilarating to have the opportunity to meet the 
world’s orthopaedic leaders and to strengthen 
relationships. The intellect and overall abilities of 
many of those with whom I have become acquainted 
provide inspiration and an enhanced perspective on 
professional and life opportunities.

I am particularly grateful to the AOA 
membership for this wonderful 
opportunity to represent members 
locally and nationally, as well as on 
the international stage.
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CONTEMPORARY STRATEGY GUIDES TRANSFORMATION

Over the past 12 months the Board has prudently stewarded the oversight, 
monitoring and implementation of the final stages of the Strategic Plan 2016–
2018. Building on the core strategies in the previous Strategic Plan 2013–2015, 
and with the tireless and generous support of members over the past six-year 
strategy cycle, AOA has significantly and meaningfully developed capabilities 
in education and training, member representation and advocacy, research, and 
professional standards – including the AOA National Joint Replacement Registry 
(AOANJRR) – while extending international engagement within and beyond the 
Asia Pacific. During this six-year period, over 200 milestones were monitored and 
substantially delivered.

This investment in member services is designed to best equip AOA members 
for the fast-changing dynamics of the complex healthcare system in which 
our members operate, to best meet ever-increasing community and patient 
expectations. Whilst many challenges remain, careful, considered development 
and execution of strategies aligned with AOA’s purpose – ‘Restoring and 
advancing the wonder of movement’ – greatly assists in ensuring that 
orthopaedic services delivered by AOA members remain valued and respected 
by the community.

PREPARING FOR THE FUTURE

AOA members do not rest on their laurels. In the context of historical and 
unprecedented change, including fast demographic shifts, increased digitisation 
and heightened management of reputational risk – all of which present both 
challenges and opportunities – members, state branches, subspecialty societies, 
AORA, the Federal Training Committee, OWL, AOA staff and directors have 
over the past nine months actively contributed to the development of the AOA 
Strategic Plan 2019–2021. The Plan reinforces the core strategies of education 
and training, introduces a new focus on leadership and continues with renewed 
energy on implementation of the Ethical Framework, including professional 
standards, while expanding the AOA National Joint Replacement Registry’s 
capability and highlighting the importance of research and advocacy. An outline 
of the Strategic Plan 2019–2021 can be found at page 13.

The AOA Board is professionally delivering its key fiduciary responsibilities 
in developing, approving and monitoring execution of AOA strategy. 
Contemporary and best-practice governance plays a vital role in ensuring AOA 

Member guidance and feedback  
has repositioned AOA as a leading 
and respected professional body 
within the medical, surgical and  
wider community.

By Chief Executive O�cer - Adrian Cosenza
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resources are deployed effectively and in the best 
pursuit of the member-focused activities.

STRATEGIC PLAN 2016–2018 
– AN OVERVIEW

The progress of the deliverables and milestones of 
the Strategic Plan 2016–2018 have been reviewed by 
the Board and/or the Executive Committee on 32 
occasions over the three-year period between 2016–
2018. In addition, during this period the Board and 
the Audit and Risk Committee have been involved 
in 12 risk-review assessment checkpoints. Overall, 
the deliverables and milestones for each of the four 
core strategies have been successfully implemented 
– in some cases, ahead of time. With 146 milestones 
in the plans to 2021, over 90 per cent have been 
either progressed or completed. Those deliverables 
scheduled for completion post-June 2018 have been 
captured in the Strategic Plan 2019–2021.

EDUCATION AND TRAINING – AOA 21

AOA’s world-recognised AOA 21 education and 
training initiative has moved to full implementation, 
with sustainably operationalising AOA 21 a key 
focus of the Strategic Plan 2019–2021. AOA 21 
provides a better-defined curriculum, more effective 
assessment tools, improved and integrated 
technology for learning, streamlined Bone School 
and a revamped training-post hospital-accreditation 
system, and delivers capacity building for members. 
As a consequence of the reputation for excellence 
attained by AOA 21, AOA is currently assisting others 
in the development of their own education programs 
– for example the New Zealand Orthopaedic 
Association, American Orthopaedic Association, 
NSW Department of Health and a number of other 
parties including colleges.

PROFESSIONALISM – LEADING THE 
ETHICS DEBATE

The past 12 months has seen the commencement of 
the implementation of the Ethical Framework. The 
Framework was developed and guided by member 
feedback and comprises AOA’s purpose, values 
and principles.

Three strands of work have been embarked upon 
to take forward the implementation of ethics into 
AOA programs and processes. Current governance 
structures are being reviewed for the purpose 
of aligning committees, policies and procedures 
with the AOA Ethical Framework, complementing 

the development of terms of reference for an 
ethics committee. Secondly, education about 
the AOA Ethical Framework is being embedded 
in AOA programs and events such as Bone 
School, Bone Camp, mentoring programs, AOA 
branch meetings, COEs and the national annual 
scientific meeting (ASM). Finally, AOA is playing 
a leadership role in the Federal Minister for 
Health-endorsed development of the Australian 
Consensus Framework for Ethical Collaboration in 
the Healthcare Sector (ACF), including the medical 
device and biopharmaceutical sectors.

It is most pleasing to note the recognition from the 
Australian Federal Minister for Health, the United 
States of America Deputy Secretary of Commerce, 
Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC) and 
other Australian healthcare leaders for the AOA 
Board’s prudent and professional leadership of 
this unprecedented consensus framework in the 
Australian healthcare sector. It is the largest participant 
consensus framework of its type in the world and also 
includes rare universal bipartisan endorsement from 
federal, state and territory governments.

PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS  
AND RESEARCH

The past year has been very active for the AOANJRR. 
Notable achievements include the development and 
launch of the AOANJRR patient reported outcome 
measures (PROMs) trial. This two-year trial initiative 
is multi-stakeholder, including all state government 
health departments, some hospital groups, the AOA 
Research Foundation, most health funds, patient 
groups and the Arthroplasty Society of Australia. 

Due to heightened interest and demand, the 
trial has been expanded from 20 hospitals to 50 
hospitals across all states, and includes public and 
private hospitals, as well as city and rural sites. In 
addition, the AOANJRR has developed a state-of-
the-art automated industry reporting system (AIRS), 
delivering faster turnaround time for reports and a 
larger volume for paying participants. Industry take-
up of this new service has been most encouraging.

The AOANJRR continues to maintain a high local 
and global profile, being regarded in the 2018 
member survey as a global leader (as in the three 

AOANJRR continues to be the  
global benchmark
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previous member surveys), and further demonstrated 
through delivery of the largest number of papers at 
the International Society of Arthroplasty Registries 
(ISAR) meeting held in June 2018 in Reykjavik, Iceland. 
AOANJRR Director Stephen Graves and Deputy 
Director Richard de Steiger continue to serve on the 
ISAR Executive and share AOANJRR best practice 
with the global registry community.

Implementation of the research strategy continues 
to gather pace, with the increased activity of the 
Network of Orthopaedic Academic Departments 
(NOADs) now comprising 22 members. The past year 
has seen increased focus on embedding research 
education in various activities, including ASMs, and 
increased collaboration and engagement with other 
musculoskeletal research organisations.

The AOA Research Foundation developed a new 
Strategic Plan 2018–2023, and this has been aligned 
with AOA’s Research Strategic Plan to prudently 
leverage scarce resources and complement activities.

MEMBER SERVICES – LEADERSHIP, 
GOVERNANCE AND MENTORING

There is a thirst amongst many AOA members for 
education in Leadership and to do more to promote 
mentoring. The Emerging Leaders Forum (ELF) 
(previously Young Leaders Forum) has proven to be a 
highly valued opportunity for the participants involved. 
Arising from the positive and encouraging feedback 
from courses over the past few years, including the 
2017 ELF, and leveraging the healthy relationships 
with like-minded surgical specialties, the ELF for 2018 
will be expanded to accommodate participants from 
four other specialty societies. In addition, planning is 
underway to deliver the ELF more frequently and to a 
wider AOA member audience.

The Mentoring Program continues to be discussed 
at meetings all over the country and members 
are sharing experiences and guiding practical 
application of models that work best for the 
profession. Over 90 members are available as 
mentors to younger members.

AOA continues to deliver governance education 
for AOA committees and members, and to other 
specialty professional groups. 

ASIA PACIFIC – PRACTICAL PRIORITIES

The  has provided ordered 
and well-defined priorities for AOA working together 

with Orthopaedic Outreach, the Asia-Pacific 
Orthopaedic Association (APOA) and, recently, the 
Pacific Islands Orthopaedic Association (PIOA). The 
focus over the past year has been on developing 
defined plans for Myanmar, Papua New Guinea and 
Vietnam. Following two years of trials and multiple 
exchange visits, AOA will provide administrative 
support for the Vietnamese Orthopaedic Observership 
Program (VOOP). This work has been pioneered and 
stewarded expertly by Asia-Pacific Committee Chair 
Andrew Beischer.

DIVERSITY STRATEGY – A NEW INITIATIVE

Following a detailed member-consultation process, 
including member surveys and discussions with state 
branch executives, subspecialty societies, OWL, 
AORA, the Federal Training Committee and the 
Board, AOA’s Diversity Strategy was approved at a 
historic meeting in April 2018. For this decision, the 
Board invited 10 female members to be part of the 
discussion and debate the final Diversity Strategy. 
It comprises three core strategies: culture and 
leadership, advocacy and engagement, and flexibility. 
The Strategy has been developed in response to 
member and community concerns regarding the 
continuing low rate of females participating in the 
delivery of services by orthopaedic surgeons. Whilst 
these are early days, AOA’s commitment to diversity 
can be demonstrated by: 

• the development and rapid commencement 
of the implementation of a five-year Diversity 
Strategic Plan, which aims to address issues 
in culture, leadership, advocacy, engagement, 
surgical specialty training and selection – without 
compromising merit

• moving away from a time-based training program 
to a competency-based training program as part 
of AOA 21

• the development and implementation of the 
Breastfeeding and Childcare Facilities at AOA 
Events Policy

• amending the Selection Interview Panel 
Guidelines to encourage the diversification 
of individuals serving on the interview panels 
and to reduce the risk of unconscious bias and 
groupthink. This was implemented in 2018 
and resulted in approximately 50 per cent of 
individuals participating in the national interview 
panels being female – a significant increase from 
the aggregated average of 11 per cent over the 
last seven years (2011–2017).
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• the selection of 25 per cent females, including an 
indigenous applicant, to the 2019 training cohort, 
representing a record for the gender mix and likely 
representative of the improvements in selection 
outlined above

• redrafting the Hospital Accreditation Standards  
to promote flexible training positions for those 
who are unable to participate in full-time 
specialist training

• the application of the AOA Ethical Framework  
to build a diverse membership that reflects the 
community

• creating networking opportunities for minority 
groups in orthopaedic surgery including, for 
example, facilitating workshops for women who 
are interested in pursuing orthopaedic surgery as 
a career

• introducing stricter guidelines for presenters and 
moderators at AOA meetings, which outline the 
professional standards expected of every delegate.

There is much more to do; however, early progress  
is encouraging. 

ADVOCACY – A RESPECTED VOICE 
ADVOCATING THE BENEFIT OF 
ORTHOPAEDICS TO THE COMMUNITY

The Travelling Exhibition of Orthopaedics has 
exceeded all expectations since its launch at the 
2016 ASM in Cairns. The Exhibition is currently 
on its second visit to some states and continues 
to be warmly received by communities. AOA has 
proactively issued 15 media releases and been 
featured 76 times in the media over the past 12 
months or so. Whilst it is difficult to be precise, AOA 
media advisors estimate the economic equivalent 
value of AOA’s positive profile through media to 
be worth up to $2.7m, which also includes the 
AOA CEO’s community involvement in the annual 
OzHarvest CEO CookOff.

Members have contributed to the development of 12 
clinical position statements, while over 60 member-
related advocacy issues have been handled by AOA.

Through recognition of the AOANJRR as a best-
practice registry, AOA 21 as a leading contemporary 
medical education program and AOA’s leadership 
of the ACF, and Australia’s recognition for ethical 
leadership as the winner of the 2018 APEC 
Lighthouse Award, AOA’s global acknowledgement 
for its leadership role in ethics is increasing. A highly 
respected voice provides AOA members with a most 
valuable basis from which to passionately advocate 
to government and other bodies for better patient 
outcomes in the provision of orthopaedic services. 

RELATIONSHIPS – DELIVERING TO 
MEMBER NEEDS

AOA has continued to maintain a high and positive 
engagement with all subspecialty societies, for which 
it provides governance advice, advocacy services, 
conference and financial administration, and support. 
In addition, there is excellent continuing engagement 
with state branches. The current relationship with 
the Royal Australasian College of Surgeons (RACS) is 
regarded as the most productive and collaborative 
it has been in the last eight years. The AOA Board 
would like to acknowledge the powerful and effective 
leadership of RACS President John Batten (previous 
AOA President) and new Chief Executive Officer Mary 
Harney. Both have worked tirelessly to listen to specialty 
society needs and steward a more welcoming and 
accommodating approach from the College.

Finally, AOA has been able to further develop a 
highly respected position with Government. AOA’s 
chairing role and leadership of the ACF have resulted 
in increased involvement with the Federal Minister 
for Health, the Federal Department of Health and 
other government agencies. In addition, the process 
of seeking the agreement of 53 signatories from 
the health sector plus all government jurisdictions 
to the ACF statement has seen AOA’s involvement 
with other players in the health sector rise to 
unprecedented levels.
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REFLECTION – AN EIGHT-YEAR 
PERSPECTIVE

AOA members are AOA. AOA remains one of the 
most highly-engaged member specialties in Australia 
and around the world. Nothing is possible without 
the goodwill, community spirit, generosity and 
tireless efforts of all AOA members. Thanks to all 
for your contribution to and valuable enrichment of 
your Association. The AOA Board, informed by AOA 
members, has responded to member needs and 
demonstrated leadership in many ways, including:

• working effectively as a well-functioning, cohesive, 
collaborative and constructive Board led by a 
committed and united presidential line in each 
year of the eight-year period 

• monitoring sound and appropriate investment in a 
talented and highly-engaged AOA staff team 

• stewarding high-quality strategy development and 
a strategic plan (globally benchmarked) reflecting 
member priorities

• overseeing effective implementation and wise 
resource allocation as evidenced through the 
investment of $4m over the past eight years in 
modernising AOA while simultaneously growing 
member value

• overseeing prudent governance, risk-
management practices and technology planning, 
including the implementation of improved 
risk-mitigation action through demonstrated 
successful disaster recovery exercises (five), 
strengthened insurance arrangements and 
disciplined management of contractual 
arrangements

• facilitating increased financial modelling and 
sophistication, including longer-range planning, 
and guiding an improved overall financial position 
for AOA.

It remains a most humbling experience to continue 
to be provided with the opportunity to work with and 
learn from so many presidents, directors, members 
and staff. I am deeply grateful for their counsel, 
guidance and support and I look forward to 
playing a continuing role in this amazing journey of 
transformation of orthopaedics for better patient 
and community outcomes. 
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LEADERSHIP AND  PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS 

• To create a culture of inclusion that promotes and enables all people into 
and within the profession of orthopaedic surgery to the benefit of the 
Australian people

• To create an environment of psychological safety and wellness

• To raise awareness of and facilitate ethical decision making and professional 
conduct through the implementation of the AOA Ethical Framework

• To create a culture to which prospective 
trainees want to belong, of which current 
trainees are proud, and with which fellows 
continue to engage

• To enhance leadership capability, capacity, 
strategic thinking and collaboration

• To continue to develop professional standards 
of practice for orthopaedic surgery and 
musculoskeletal health.

STRATEGIC PLAN
2019 – 2021

EDUCATION AND TRAINING

• To continue to provide the highest quality education 
and training by implementing AOA 21

• To steward the transition from the SET program to 
the AOA 21 Training Program for all members

• To foster lifelong learning and professional behaviours

• To nurture a compassionate and flexible environment 
that enables trainee physical and mental wellbeing

• To ensure that trainers receive the best possible 
support to deliver the highest quality of education 
to trainees.

Aims:

Aims:



2019 – 2021
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ADVOCACY
Aims:

• To collaborate and foster strong relationships with government, industry, 
healthcare institutions, medical colleges, specialties, patient groups, 
universities and other stakeholders involved in musculoskeletal health

• To improve the profile of AOA as the peak  
professional body for orthopaedic surgery 
and musculoskeletal conditions in the 
community

• To promote strong relationships with the 
Asia-Pacific region through collaboration, 
education, training and humanitarian 
initiatives

• To expand and deliver relevant member 
support services.  

RESEARCH 

• To develop a community of practice in musculoskeletal evidence-based 
medicine and learning

• To expand and optimise the AOANJRR’s capability and strengthen its global 
reach and influence 

• To build the data-collection and -analysis capability of 
the AOANJRR

• To utilise musculoskeletal research outcomes to 
promote ethical, evidence-based, cost-effective and 
sustainable orthopaedic practice 

• To strengthen research literacy amongst the 
membership.

Aims:

STRATEGIC PLAN
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AOA 21

2018 has seen the first intake of trainees commence on the AOA 21 Training 
Program. At this significant milestone it seems timely to reflect on the enormous 
undertaking that our progress so far represents. The dedication and tireless 
efforts of so many AOA Fellows and staff have brought us to this point. 

I’d like to acknowledge the over 700 Fellows who are involved in training for their 
patience and fortitude in moving through the many changes that have been 
implemented to date. We have asked them to shift the way they train, to adopt 
new tools and to undergo additional training. We recognise the effort involved 
and hope that they are starting to see its positive impact.

I have previously described AOA 21 as a transformation journey, and while we 
have achieved so much, there is still much work to be done. I’d like to take this 
opportunity to highlight several key achievements of the last 12 months and 
briefly outline what is still to come.

eLEARNING

The last year has seen a positive uptake in use of the AOA Training App for 
completion of Workplace Based Assessments and Feedback Entries. As with the 
roll out of any new technology, there have been a few issues along the way. These 
have been addressed and feedback suggests the App is now working reliably.

Graphs and data reports, now available in the Trainee Information 
Management System, can be utilised to review trainee progress and inform 
assessment decisions. I would encourage all trainee supervisors and directors 
of training to familiarise themselves with these tools, as three-monthly 
assessment in the AOA 21 Training Program relies on assessment data rather 
than a consensus discussion.

COMMUNICATION AND SUPPORT 

A series of narrated PowerPoint presentations have been developed to assist 
with understanding the requirements of the AOA 21 Training Program. These 
short, sharp presentations (approximately two-to-three minutes in duration) each 
represent a touch point on one specific aspect of training. Webinars have also 
been held to discuss various aspects of the new program in more detail. 

I have previously described AOA 21 as 
a transformation journey, and while 
we have achieved so much there is 
still much work to be done.
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Chair of Education and Training – Omar Khorshid

EDUCATION AND TRAINING REPORT
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FEDERAL TRAINING COMMITTEE (FTC) 
GOVERNANCE

Two new FTC subcommittees have been convened: 
the Research Coordinators’ Committee and the 
International Medical Graduate (IMG) Assessment 
Committee. Each of these committees has been 
delegated authority to manage their area of 
responsibility to a level of detail not possible for the 
FTC as a whole. A new Accreditation Committee will 
be constituted in the second half of 2018.

An external representative has been included on the 
FTC to contribute a non-orthopaedic perspective 
to the deliberations of the Committee. I am pleased 
to welcome Ms Susi Tegen, former CEO of the Royal 
Australian and New Zealand College Obstetricians 
and Gynaecologists and the Medical Technology 
Association of Australia, to this role. Susi made a most 
valuable contribution at her first meeting in July 2018.

REVIEW OF ACCREDITATION

In July 2018 the final versions of the new AOA 
Accreditation Standards and associated policies 
were approved, following a period of consultation. 
Implementation of the new standards will represent 
a significant body of work for AOA. Transition to the 
new standards will commence in 2019.

WHAT’S NEXT?

Our first group of trainees will progress into the Core 
Orthopaedics stage of training early in 2019. This 
group will comprise Surgical Education and Training 
trainees who commenced in 2017 and current 
Introduction to Orthopaedics trainees.

OPERATIONS OF TRAINING

As always, the wheels of the Training Program 
continue to turn while we work towards achieving 
our goal of excellence in orthopaedic training.

219 applications for selection to the AOA 21 Training 
Program for 2018 were received, with 144 applicants 
going on to be interviewed across the country. 

Sincere thanks are extended to the numerous AOA 
members who volunteered to act as interviewers.

Due to a small cohort exiting in 2019, only 24 first-
round offers were extended in July 2018. This 
translates to 11 per cent of applicants securing an 
offer. It is important to highlight that this success 
rate is only reflective of the number of posts 
available and not the quality of the applicants. 
Orthopaedic training has always been in high 
demand; however, we are seeing a marked 
increase in the number of applicants each year. The 
majority of these applicants will unfortunately be 
disappointed with their outcome.

33 accreditation inspections were conducted, largely 
in March and April 2018. I also extend my thanks to 
the dedicated AOA Fellows who willingly gave of 
their time to complete this important process.

223 trainees are currently in active training in the 
AOA Training Program. This slight decrease is a result 
of unplanned interruptions of training. During the 
2017/2018 year, 42 trainees have completed training. 
Regional training committees (RTCs) have continued 
to provide additional support to their trainees, with 
four trainees completing a period of ‘red flag’, eight a 
period of probation and five a training review.

I would take this opportunity to remind trainees that 
feedback and assessment processes are intended 
to highlight deficiencies and facilitate remediation, 
with an ultimate goal of helping you achieve the 
required competencies.

Peter Cundy took over as convenor of the National 
Trial Fellowship Exam (NTFE) in 2017. The 2017 
NTFE was held in Adelaide in conjunction with the 
Australian Orthopaedic Registrars’ Association 
(AORA) Annual Scientific Meeting (ASM). For the 
first time, the written exams were delivered online 
and marked in advance so that personal feedback 
could be provided to each candidate. Once again, 
this popular event was made possible through 
the commitment of an enthusiastic group of past-
examiners and the FTC.

The final National Pre-Exam Course was convened by 
Sindy Vrancic in May 2018. The course was a success 
thanks to the involvement of many members from 
Canberra and the NSW training regions.

AOA is continuing to work with RACS in achieving 
the requirements of the Building Respect, Improving 
Patient Safety action plan. I am pleased to report 

I commend to you the report of the 
Dean of Education, which outlines 
several other AOA 21 projects from 
the past year.
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Much of my activity in the 2017/18 year has 
been around facilitating the delivery of AOA 21 
workshops around the country. It has been a 
wonderful opportunity to connect with many AOA 
Fellows and to learn about delivery of training in 
a variety of settings from those of you at the coal-
face. It is most gratifying to note the enthusiasm 
and dedication of AOA’s trainers as you continue 
to engage with the workshops in greater numbers. 
I understand there are some frustrations at the 
training requirements being imposed by the Royal 
Australasian College of Surgeons (RACS); however, 
I believe that these workshops can and will result 
in AOA having a group of trainers who are well 
equipped to teach and support trainees to a high 
standard of competence. This in turn works towards 
our aim of improving patient care, and ultimately 
restoring and advancing the ‘wonder of movement’. 

We have recently held a train-the-trainer session 
in Sydney for new AOA 21 leads, which should 
help to increase AOA’s capacity to deliver more 
workshops locally. I encourage you to continue to 
sign up for the workshops being held in your region 
or to request that a workshop be held in your 

department. AOA continues to share completion 
data with RACS, which recognises the four core 
AOA 21 workshops as equivalent to the Foundation 
Skills for Surgical Educators course.

A full year using the new workplace-based 
assessments has provided us with considerable 
data on trainee performance, which, as we move 
toward full implementation of AOA 21 assessment 
data, will increasingly be the basis for trainee 
progression. With the Federal Training Committee 
(FTC), I have also started to scrutinise trainee eLog 
data with a view to monitoring trainee exposure to 
the level-one procedures of the AOA Curriculum. 
Over time this will confirm (or otherwise) the current 
categorisation of procedures and inform any 
changes that may be required.

The second Bone Camp for trainees commencing on 
the AOA 21 Training Program was held in February 
2018. Based largely on the format piloted in 2017, 
with a slightly compressed two-day program, new 
trainees participated in sessions on taking a history, 
physical examination, ethical decision-making and 
research methodology. Bone Camp has once again 

Dean of Education – Ian Incoll

DEAN OF EDUCATION REPORT

100 per cent compliance by AOA trainees with 
completion of the Operating With Respect (OWR) 
online module. We continue to work towards 
achieving the other requirements and I encourage 
you to complete the OWR module and attend AOA 
21 workshops in your region or at an ASM.

There are 16 IMGs currently undergoing clinical 
assessment in orthopaedic surgery and 13 who are 
waiting to commence clinical assessment. Seven 
IMGs have completed their supervision period and 
are waiting to pass the Fellowship Examination. Four 
IMGs have so far obtained RACS Fellowship in 2018.

On behalf of our trainees and our Association, 
I would like to reiterate my sincere gratitude to 
those members who continue to be involved in the 
Training Program. Whether you are an assessor, 

trainee supervisor, director of training, Bone School 
coordinator, inspector, AOA 21 lead, committee 
member or mentor – your efforts do not go unseen 
and are greatly appreciated. AOA would not have a 
Training Program without your commitment.

I’d especially like to acknowledge the hard work and 
dedication of the members of the FTC: RTC Chairs 
Kelly MacGroarty (QLD), David Nicholson (Newcastle 
NSW), Sean Suttor (Northside NSW), Sindy Vrancic 
(Southside NSW), Christos Kondogiannis (VIC/TAS), 
Nicole Williams (SA), Jonathan Spencer (WA); Senior 
Orthopaedic Examiner Paul Pincus; AORA President 
Minjae Lee; Jurisdictional Representative Brett Oliver, 
Dean of Education Ian Incoll and President Lawrence 
Malisano. The work of the FTC continues to be 
supported by our excellent Education and Training 
team at AOA Head Office and our regional managers.
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received positive feedback, with trainees noting 
they value the opportunity to come together for this 
intensive training experience. I express my thanks  
to the many members and staff who contributed  
to this success.

AOA is currently working on a number of education 
research projects in consultation with Jason Frank, 
Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of 
Canada Director of Specialty Education, Strategy 
and Standards. These include publication of the 
strategic education review undertaken as part of 
the development of the AOA 21 Training Program, 
a diffusion study to assess the use of the AOA 21 
Training App, and assessment of the effectiveness of 
current selection tools and the relationship between 
selection scores and performance during training.

We are also working on the development and 
validation of a learning tool that will facilitate 
the assessment of informed consent skills in 
surgical trainees. Once developed, this tool will 
be integrated into the AOA 21 Training Program 
with the aim of improving the process of informed 
consent in orthopaedic surgery in Australia, thereby 
improving patient care and reducing medico-
legal risk. We would like to thank Avant Mutual 
for providing a research grant to help fund the 
development and publication of this tool.

As the FTC roll out the AOA 21 Research Pathways 
for trainees, a formal Research Coordinators 
Committee has been established. With 
representation from each training region, the 

Research Coordinators Committee is responsible 
for reviewing trainee research proposals for one 
of three available pathways: the Project Pathway, 
the Coursework Pathway and the PhD Pathway. 
Trainees are now able to select a pathway based on 
their level of interest in research involvement. All 
three pathways provide the necessary groundwork 
in research methodology and evidence-based 
medicine, with trainees then able to choose to 
complete a full research project or to take a 
pathway that would facilitate becoming a surgeon 
scientist. Trainees can also claim recognition of prior 
research learning through the Committee.

I have continued to act as AOA’s representative to 
RACS with regard to IMG assessment. Outside the 
regular IMG assessment interviews, considerable 
activity is underway in this area with a view to 
strengthening IMG assessment processes. The 
FTC has recently established an IMG Assessment 
Committee, which will work closely with the RACS 
IMG Committee in this regard while also ensuring 
close links between regional training and IMG 
assessment.

I feel very privileged to have represented AOA in 
a number of forums, including the International 
Conference on Residency Education and the 
International Selection in the Health Professions 
Conference. As we continue to share AOA 21, it 
is gratifying to see that AOA is operating at the 
leading edge of educational best practice.
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THE AOA STRATEGIC PLAN 2019–2021

The AORA Executive has had the opportunity to contribute to the Strategic Plan 
2019–2021. One of its key goals is the development of a trainee support program, 
with the involvement of trainee mentors and supervisors. Although our new, 
competency-based program allows trainees to monitor their progress throughout 
the Training Program, it was recognised that implementing an improved support 
network for trainees will be imperative. Trainees also expressed concerns about 
the disparity of training experiences in different states, particularly with regard to 
exposure to hand and spine surgery. This was recognised by the AORA Executive 
and reflected in the Strategic Plan 2019–2021.  

RURAL HOUSING AND EXPOSURE 

Exposure to a rural orthopaedic secondment is critical for the development 
of a well-rounded orthopaedic trainee, as well as fostering trainee interests in 
practicing in areas of need. The provision of basic amenities during secondment 
terms is an issue that is raised every year, and this year it has been at the 
forefront of discussions at every AORA Executive meeting. These concerns were 
escalated and strongly supported by the Federal Training Committee, such that 
the provision of basic amenities was made a key criterion for the accreditation of 
rural sites in 2018. The 2018 revision of the Rural Secondment for Orthopaedic 
Surgery Trainees handbook, from AORA, will also help trainees to adapt to the 
rural training environment. 

AORA ASM

It was great to witness the collegiality of registrars on display at the 2017 AORA Annual 
Scientific Meeting in Adelaide. Over 120 trainees gathered to build on the strong 
foundations of past AORA meetings. The new format of the National Trial Fellowship 
Exam was well received. Trainees also found individual feedback on essays and 
examiner discussions to be invaluable. Twenty high-quality research papers were 
presented by fellow trainees, including international faculty from Fiji, Turkey, and 
Japan. Trainees celebrated late into the night at the Cocktail Party and the Gala 
Dinner, building on the collegial spirit ingrained within our Training Program.

I would like to thank all of the AORA Executive for their valuable and tireless 
contributions this year: Vice President Christopher Conyard; state representatives 
Ganesh Balendra (QLD), Angela Chang (SA), Piet Rogers (WA), Macdaniel Nixon 
(Newcastle), Catherine Hibberd (NSW Southside), Saqib Zafar (NSW Northside), 
and Brett Moreira (VIC/TAS); and OWL Representative Sarah O'Reilly-Harbidge.

A successful year of transition for 
trainees, with a proposed strategy 
of continuous support within the 
competency-based program. 
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Australian Orthopaedic Registrars’ Association President – Minjae lee

AORA REPORT
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2017 ADELAIDE ASM

The 2017 ASM attracted 1349 registrants, 513 of whom were AOA members. The 
theme of the meeting was ‘Transforming Leadership’ and apart from the usual 
stellar national and international faculty, several successful plenaries were held 
on leadership, education (both under the leadership of Ian Incoll) and registries, 
and another plenary on updates from each subspecialty. A president’s debate 
was also held, which covered the topic of advertising in orthopaedics.

2018 PERTH ASM 

For the Perth ASM we have a packed program. The theme chosen by the President 
is ‘Better Patient Outcomes’. Plenaries are still undergoing preparation but we plan 
to have another session of highlights from each specialty, and we will have some 
mini-plenaries covering specific updates on arthroplasty infection and managing 
metastases. For the first time, the Research Committee will hold a one-hour session 
on ‘Getting Into Research’, which will highlight the role of the NOADs (Network of 
Orthopaedic Academic Departments) and give guidance for anyone interested in 
taking an active role in research, from joining a trial to doing a higher degree.

In 2018, we will be allocating time in the general section for the best registrar 
papers from each state/regional meeting to be presented. This will give well-
earned recognition and exposure for registrars and allow them to showcase 
their projects nationally.

The theme of the 2017 ASM was 
‘Transforming Leadership’ and 
apart from the usual stellar national 
and international faculty, several 
successful plenaries were held.
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In 2017, AOA struck an agreement with OrthoEvidence 
that provides all AOA members with a subscription to 
this online service, which provides evidence summaries 
in the field of orthopaedics.

Scientific Secretary – Ian Harris

SCIENTIFIC SECRETARY REPORT
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ORTHOEVIDENCE

In 2017, AOA struck an agreement with OrthoEvidence 
that provides all AOA members with a subscription to 
this online service, which provides evidence summaries 
in the field of orthopaedics. Based in Canada, 
this collaborative group produces orthopaedic-
only evidence summaries and has partnered with 
specialist societies around the world. The website is 
myorthoevidence.com and members can activate their 
subscription by simply going to the sign-up page, 
confirming their email address, and entering the 
required information through the email prompt.

AOA RESEARCH COMMITMENT

AOA has been working to clarify its role in research 
activities. The recently established Research 
Committee, under the leadership of Peter Choong,
has established the Network of Orthopaedic
Academic Departments (NOADs) and increased the 
profile of research in AOA activities.

In 2018, AOA also established a Clinical Quality Interim 
Committee. Under the leadership of Andrew Ellis, 
this committee will oversee AOA’s involvement in 
clinical quality activities, and act as the contact point 
with similar external bodies, such as the Australian 
Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care.
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2018 is the second year of the revised AOA CPD program, and I would like 
to thank all of our members for their patience as the new program becomes 
embedded into our normal practice. Uptake of our new CPD online portal has 
been excellent and AOA’s CPD team members have been working hard to 
assist members to enter and finalise their CPD activities for 2017. We have taken 
members’ feedback on board and scheduled several system improvements for 
implementation in the second half of 2018. We are also excited to announce 
that we are developing a CPD app, which will make it easy for members to add 
activities on the go. The app is expected to be launched by the end of 2018.

MEDICAL BOARD OF AUSTRALIA (MBA) PROFESSIONAL 
PERFORMANCE FRAMEWORK

In late 2017, the MBA released the Professional Performance Framework, which 
is designed to ensure that all registered medical practitioners in Australia 
practise competently and ethically throughout their working lives, and provide 
safe care to patients. The revised AOA CPD program that was launched in 
2017 was developed to address some of the requirements of the Framework, 
including the introduction of the Multi-Source Feedback tool and an increased 
focus on peer-review activities. The Framework also requires that CPD program 
providers such as AOA should have a strengthened role in:

• working with individual medical practitioners so that individual doctors’ CPD 
activities reflect and support their scope of practice

• supporting remediation of medical practitioners in their cohort with identified 
performance gaps 

• sharing information with employers and other health-sector agencies about 
medical practitioners who pose an identified risk to patients, within an 
established legal framework

• managing the risk of professional isolation, including by increasing peer-based 
CPD for professionally-isolated practitioners. 

The CPD Committee has already taken action to meet its obligations under the 
new Framework, including consideration of new activities that could be added 
to the CPD program, inclusion of a non-operating surgical representative on 
the Committee, and development of a practice-visit program for surgeons 
in at-risk categories. In addition, AOA is actively engaging with the Royal 
Australasian College of Surgeons (RACS) to ensure that all members are 
appropriately supported, regardless of which CPD program they choose to 
complete. It was most pleasing to note improvement of compliance with CPD 

Improvement was made with 
CPD requirements amongst AOA 
members with the AOA and RACS 
CPD programs both achieving 100% 
compliance for the 2016 CPD year.

Continuing Professional Development Chair – Colin Whitewood 

CPD REPORT
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requirements amongst AOA members with the AOA 
and RACS CPD programs both achieving 100 per 
cent compliance for the 2016 CPD year.

PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT  
AND STANDARDS

Advertising complaints continue to be the 
most common reason for people to contact the 
Professional Conduct and Standards Committee. 
The majority of these issues in 2017–18 were to do 
with claims made in practice promotional material 
that were outside the well-established guidelines 
set out by the Australian Health Practitioner 
Regulation Agency (AHPRA), AOA, RACS and the 
Australian Medical Association. AHPRA now has a 
self-assessment tool for members to use so they can 
check their advertising material prior to publication. 
Click here to view.

Increasing notifications have also been noted around 
the inappropriate use of the AOA logo on Fellows’ 
websites where the FAOrthA logo should be used.

Formal meetings of the Committee to consider 
serious breaches of conduct by members have been 
pleasantly seldom.

CPD STATISTICS (AS AT JULY 2018)

Total AOA members required to undertake CPD 1452

Members undertaking AOA CPD program 947

Members compliant in AOA program 649

Members compliant in AOA CPD program 69%

Members undertaking RACS program 505

Total AOA members CPD compliant 1154 (79%)*

AOA members not undertaking CPD 1 exempt

AOA is actively engaging with 
the Royal Australasian College of 
Surgeons (RACS) to ensure that 
all members are appropriately 
supported, regardless of which CPD 
program they choose to complete.

*For AOA CPD reporting purposes, all RACS participants are assumed compliant.

https://bit.ly/2MlDjYl
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FINANCES

The Foundation achieved a surplus of $354,949 for the year ended 30 June 2018 
compared to $467,448 in 2016/17, a decrease of $112,499. The operating result for 
the year before unrealised movements in market-related investments amounted 
to $257,074, compared to $287,789 for the previous year, with the reduction 
arising mainly from higher expenditure on grants.

Return from investments, at $304,697, was slightly lower than the return of 
$308,823 for the previous year, and represented a return of 7.07%, a satisfactory 
result in the current investment environment. Unrealised gains on market-related 
investments for the year ended 30 June 2018 amounted to $97,875, down from 
$179,659 for the previous year. This reduction is the main factor in the reduction 
in the surplus compared to the year ended 30 June 2017 and is entirely outside 
of the Directors’ control.

Revenue for the year was $458,602, compared to $458,588 in 2016/17 – a minor 
difference.  Members’ funds at 30 June 2018 amounted to $6,155,980, compared 
to $5,801,031 at 30 June 2017 – an increase of $354,949.

GRANTS

For the year under review (2017/2018), a total of 39 grant applications were 
lodged using the online platform, nine of which fell into the Early-Career 
Researcher category. Of those 39 applications, four regular and two Early-Career 
Researcher grants were awarded. Grants paid for the year under review totalled 
$152,740, compared to $125,588 for the previous year – an increase of $27,152. 

At the time of writing this report I am pleased to inform the membership that the 
AOA Research Foundation received 42 applications for 2018/19. It is pleasing to
note the steady rise in grant applications over the last few years.  

In the 2017/18 year, 39 AOA Research 
Foundation grant applications were
received – an increase of 35 per cent
compared to the 2016/17 financial year.

Chair of the AOA Research Foundation – Minoo Patel 

AOA RESEARCH FOUNDATION
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF BOARD AND  
RESEARCH ADVISORY COMMITTEE

The AOA Research Foundation is fortunate to have 
dedicated members involved on the Research 
Advisory Committee and Board. I am fortunate 
to work with such knowledgeable and passionate 
individuals. I am pleased to announce that Alan
Skirving, a long-standing member of the Research 
Advisory Committee, has been appointed Chair, 
and I take this opportunity to welcome the new 
members of the Research Advisory Committee: 

• Gregory Bain

• Zsolt Balogh (Deputy Chair)

• Michelle Dowsey 

• Adrian Low 

I thank the AOA membership and my colleagues 
for another successful year, and I look forward to 
continuing to work with you in the coming year.

It is pleasing to note the steady rise 
in grant applications over the last 
few years.  
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Orthopaedic Outreach featured prominently within the Royal Australasian 
College of Surgeons (RACS) Global Health Forum 2018. This was co-chaired 
by Outreach Executive member Dr Robert Costa, demonstrating a strong 
collaboration committed to improved clinical and educational outcomes 
throughout our region. Partnered projects such as those in Kiribati and Samoa 
continue to foster growth in opportunities.

Australian Orthopaedic Outreach members were invited to take a leading role in 
the Cambodian National Surgery Conference, presenting a keynote address on 
‘Safe and Sustainable Orthopaedic Surgery in Developing Countries’, chairing 
sessions on upper limb surgery, and delivering various instructional papers 
throughout the program. With recognition of the importance of complete 
patient care and the value of strong multidisciplinary teams, specific hand- 
therapy workshops were delivered to physiotherapy graduates, emphasising the
value of strong multidisciplinary teams for patient care.

This, combined with the surgical skills workshops and the advanced microsurgical 
training sessions, has a recognised long-term impact on the skill of Cambodian 
surgeons and, in turn, the lives and productivity of many within the community.

Identification of Lautoka Hospital in Fiji as a site in need of concentrated 
orthopaedic training and resources attracted both significant numbers of 
volunteer surgeons willing to give their time and generous financial support 
from private donors wishing to have an impact. This success saw our team visits 
increase dramatically, providing additional supervisory support in clinics, ward 
rounds and within surgery. This mentoring model has been well received by local 
hospital administration, as well as by the trainees onsite.

The rapidly rising 
standards of patient care 
demonstrated across sites 
reinforce the success of 
our programs.
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The Australian Orthopaedic Association Annual 
Scientific Meeting provides a tremendous opportunity 
for surgeons from developing countries, whether they 
may be looking to advance their clinical knowledge or to 
extend their vast networks of colleagues and resources.

Chair of Orthopaedic Outreach – Graham Gumley

ORTHOPAEDIC OUTREACH
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The Australian Orthopaedic Association Annual 
Scientific Meeting provides a tremendous opportunity 
for surgeons from developing countries, whether they 
may be looking to advance their clinical knowledge 
or to extend their vast networks of colleagues and 
resources. With the assistance of World Orthopaedic 
Concern, Orthopaedic Outreach has been able to 
support guests with the invitation to present their 
experiences within the Orthopaedic Outreach 
session. 2017 included guests from multiple sites 
in Papua New Guinea, The Solomon Islands and 
Cambodia. The relationships fostered through these 
visits, combined with the insightful presentations 
outlining daily challenges faced with local clinical 
cases, establish a sound platform for further clinical 
and educational exchanges.

There are many other stories of success throughout 
the developing countries we visit. Orthopaedic 
Outreach wishes to express our sincere gratitude for 
the ongoing support of our programs provided by 
the Australian Orthopaedic Association Board.

The relationships fostered through 
these visits establish a sound 
platform for further clinical and 
educational exchanges.
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NEW FELLOWS
Ruban Ambikaipalan VIC

Rakesh Arora QLD

Saeed Asadollahi VIC

Sina Babazadeh VIC

Lachlan Batty VIC

Samuel Benveniste SA

Borislav Brankov WA

Matthew Broadhead NSW

James Brown QLD

James Churchill VIC

Gregory Cunningham WA

Iswadi Damasena WA

Jonathon de Hoog QLD

David Dillon WA

Simon Donald NSW

Benjamin East NSW

Michael Facek NSW

Michel Genon NSW

Jacqueline Hang NSW

Phil Huang NSW

Owen Jenkins QLD

Matthew Jones NSW

Amir Kalanie NSW

Raj Krishnan QLD

Yu Chao Lee SA

Jeremy Loveridge QLD

Martin Lowe QLD

Philip Markham NSW

Stephen McGrath WA

Peter Moore NSW

Stewart Morrison VIC

Venkata Mukundala WA

Haren Nandapalan NSW

Naveen Narayanasamy VIC

Vasudev Navalgund QLD

Dion Noovao QLD

Vishal Pai VIC

Jack Pang VIC

Michael Perret WA

Alvin Pun NSW

Reza Rahim VIC

Krishnankutty Rajesh NSW

Mark Rickman SA

John Roe QLD

Anubhav Sathu QLD

Ben Schwarz NSW

Siamak Seresti NSW

Gayle Silveira SA

Parminder Singh VIC

Annabelle Stabler QLD

Aaron Stevenson SA

Thittukattoor Sudhahar NSW

Mayuran Suthersan NSW

John Swan VIC

Gerrit van de Pol QLD

Gregory Wernecke NSW

Ben Williams NT

Gerald Yeo QLD

Mario Zotti QLD

Robert McNinch QLD

Andrei Cornoiu VIC

DECEASED MEMBERS
Kenneth Cleminson UK

Harry Crock VIC

Maurice Gallagher QLD

George Kalnins NSW

Robin Ling  UK

Robert Nall  NSW

Aiyadurai Prakash NSW

James Rohrsheim NSW

William Ryan QLD

Bruce Shepherd NSW

M
EM

BE
RS

H
IP

MEMBERSHIP
As at 30 June 2018
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AGE RANGE 
OF ACTIVE & 
PRACTICING 

AOA MEMBERS 
(Dates of birth by decade)

Corresponding
6 (<1%)

Affiliate
12 (<1%)

Senior Affiliate
3 (<1%)

Fellow
1227 (70%)

Trainees
239 (14%)

Senior Fellows
233 (13%)

Life Fellows
24 (1.3%)

International
9 (<1%)

Honourary
9 (<1%)

Before 1940
48 (3%)

1940-1949
111 (7%)

1950-1959
226 (15%)

1960-1969
356 (23%)

1970-1979
493 (32%)

1980 Onwards
316 (20%)

QLD 
363 (21%)

NSW 
575 (33%)

VIC 
399 (23%)

NT 

SA 
150 (9%)

WA 
174 (10%)

37 (2%)

ACT 
30 (2%)

MEMBERS  
BY STATE

5  (<1%)
International

TAS 
29 (2%)

Ian Dickinson

Peter Lugg & Michael McAuliffe

John Kagi

Ali Gursel

John Bennett, Jay Ebert 

 & Alan Kop

Youssef (Joe) Ghabrial, 

 Don Johnston, David Ness 

 & William Walter (Sr)

L O Betts Memorial Medal:

Award for Humanitarian Service:

Award for Meritorious Service:

Leadership Award:

Honorary Fellowship:

 
Life Fellowship:

HONOURS & AWARDS

Total members  
as of 30 June 2018 
= 1762

Total active 
and practicing 
members as of 30 
June 2018 = 1550

MEMBER 
TYPES
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FACTS & FIGURES

 AOA STRATEGY
AOA STRATEGIC PLAN

 

Milestones set

Milestones 
delivered

 

MEMBERSHIP

1762
AOA members

of Australian orthopaedic 
surgeons are AOA members

86
AOA 21 
workshops 
delivered

procedures logged 
by trainees

129 Hours of 
training 
across
Australia

66 enquiries

Tripled in 
12 months

46

47

239 AOA trainees

2016–2018

2019–2021

 EDUCATION AND TRAINING
AOA 21 MILESTONES & TASKS DUE 2021

TIMS AND THE AOA 21 TRAINING APP

 

Milestones Complete
77%

Tasks Complete
81%

Estimated value of media profile incl. 
OzHarvest CEO CookOff coverage

$2.5
MILLION+

SATISFACTION RATING

82-90%
for the past 7 years 
vs 58% AUS/NZ 
association average

AOA 21

87,970

ADVOCACY
MEDIA PROFILE

129

415

 

mentions

TRAVELLING 
EXHIBITION OF 
ORTHOPAEDICS

ASSISTANCE

Locations 
visited across 
Australia since 
October 2016.

AOA assisted patients, surgeons, 
government and NGOs with 415 
advocacy issues, 2013-18

32
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OPERATIONS
CONTRIBUTIONS

 

 

 
 

contributed 
since 2013 to 
subspecialties 
and other 
bodies

RACS FEES

paid to RACS 
in training fees, 
2008–2018 

 ACTIVE AOA 
CONTRACTS

755
 RISK CONTROLS AND ACTIONS

Up 25% over 
12 months681

  

2017 ANNUAL 
REPORT

 
RESEARCH

Research 
AOA

Foundation 
grants 
awarded, 
2013–17  

100%CPD CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL 
DEVELOPMENT COMPLIANCE

Record achieved 
2016 CPD year

$36K+

EVENTS
APPROVAL

 

 
 

OUTREACH

over $36,000 donated to

EVENTS ATTENDEES

16,841
attendees at AOA events, 2013–18

Attendees rated events as 
very good or excellent

 

Orthopaedic Outreach through
AOA events, 2015–18

 

92.5%

24,593  
Up 28% from downloads 
of 2016 Report$773k+ 

 

Up 83% in 
three years

$2.5
MILLION

$7.3
MILLION

WEBSERVER
Webserver uptime

2016 –18

AOA WEBSITESOCIAL MEDIA 
FOLLOWERS

COMMUNICATIONS & IT

 

Up 50%

Up 50%

Up 37%

3000+

1000+

500+

 

Pageviews up 10%
493K+

99.9+%

AOANJRR
PROCEDURES VALUE

logged 
since 
1999

reported value to 
Australian society
1999–20121.4

MILLION+
$600
MILLION+
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BOARD COMMITTEE CHAIR
Exceutive Committee Lawrence Malisano

ABC Travelling Fellowship Committee Bill Donelly

Asia-Pacific Committee Andrew Beischer

President's and State Chair's Committee Lawrence Malisano

Continuing Orthopaedic Education Committee Andrew Oppy

Continuing Professional Development Committee Colin Whitewood

Federal Training Committee Omar Khorshid

Fellowships Committee David Dickison

Honours and Nominations Committee Lawrence Malisano

IMG Assessment Committee Ian Incoll

AOA National Joint Replacement Registry Committee David Hale

AOA National Joint Replacement Registry Academic 
Advisory Panel

Don Howie

Orthopaedic Women's Link (OWL) Committee Michelle Atkinson*

Professional Conduct and Standards Committee Colin Whitewood

Research Committee Peter Choong

Rural Surgeons Committee Chris Morrey

Spinal PFET Committee Myron Rogers**

Subspecialty Presidents Committee Lawrence Malisano

AD HOC COMMITTEE OR  
WORKING GROUP CHAIR

Code of Conduct Review Colin Whitewood

Digital Imaging David Mitchell

Patient Education Committee Andrew Beischer

Workforce Working Group Lawrence Malisano

BO
A

RD
 C

O
M

M
IT

TE
ES

 &
 G

RO
U

PS

*Completed tenure 22 June 2018
**Member of the Neurosurgical Society of Australasia

BOARD COMMITTEES & GROUPS
As at 30 June 2018
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L MALISANO
PRESIDENT

A ELLIS
SECOND  
VICE-PRESIDENT

M LEE
AORA PRESIDENT

C MORREY
GENERAL DIRECTOR

I HARRIS
SCIENTIFIC SECRETARY

D MARTIN
FIRST VICE-PRESIDENT

M DAMIANI
GENERAL DIRECTOR  

AND TREASURER

O KHORSHID
CHAIR OF EDUCATION 

AND TRAINING

M PIRPIRIS
STATE CHAIR DIRECTOR

C WHITEWOOD
CHAIR OF PROFESSIONAL 

DEVELOPMENT AND 
STANDARDS

D
IR

EC
TO

R
S

DIRECTORS
As at 30 June 2018
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SUMMARY

It is pleasing to report that in its 82nd year of operations AOA realised a surplus 
of $479,251, compared to a surplus in the previous year of $170,556. During the 
year there was a continuation of investment in initiatives of strategic importance, 
with that investment amounting to $560,806. Although returns on fixed-term 
investments continue to be low by comparison to long-term trends, market-
related investments performed strongly and unrealised gains of $452,564 were 
achieved for the year (previous year $164,160).

The main focus of investment in strategic initiatives continued to be the AOA 21 
Project, with expenditure of $468,423 for the year. AOA 21 is now well into the 
implementation stage of the project and the directors have decided that in future 
years it should no longer be reported as a strategic initiative but should instead be 
regarded as part of normal operations. Other expenditure reported as strategic 
include the Ethics project, the Diversity project and the Travelling Exhibition. The 
Travelling Exhibition moved around a number of locations during the year under 
review and has continued to generate excellent recognition for AOA.

The surplus from normal operations amounted to $587,493, comprised of AOA 
head office operations – $489,807 surplus; state branches – $66,866 surplus; 
AOA National Joint Replacement Registry – $18,679 surplus; and other entities – 
$12,141 surplus.

INVESTMENTS

Centric Wealth, a member of the Findex Group, continues to provide 
management of AOA’s investment portfolio and the Board’s Audit and Risk 
Management Committee oversees Centric’s management by meeting with them 
twice annually for discussions and strategic overview.

Income from investments for the year amounted to $520,974, compared to 
$648,731 in the previous year – a reduction of $127,757 reflecting the lower 
returns referred to earlier. The lower actual returns were more than offset by the 
higher valuations on market-related investments. The value of the investment 
portfolio increased by $868,091 during the year to $12,947,184 at 30 June 2018 
from $12,079,093 at 30 June 2017.

TR
EA

SU
RE

R 
RE

PO
RT

Treasurer – Maurizio Damiani  

TREASURER REPORT

Chair of Audit and Risk Management Committee – David Martin



PAGE 35

REVENUE AND EXPENSES

Revenue for the year was $12,049,118, an increase 
of 15% compared to the previous year’s revenue 
of $10,476,509. The major factors influencing the 
increase was the excellent attendance at the major 
scientific meetings including the APKASS meeting 
held in June 2018 and the increased grants from a 
wide range of contributors to the AOANJRR Patient 
Reported Outcomes Measures project. The APKASS 
meeting generated considerably more revenue than 
the traditional COE meeting held at that time of year, 
however, the financial results of the meeting were not 
significantly different from normal due to the high 
expense of the meeting.

Total expense for the year increased by 14.8% 
to $12,022,431 (previous year $10,470,113). As for 
revenue, as noted above, a significant impact on 
expense was higher scientific meetings costs. 
AOANJRR costs increased 20% compared to the 
previous year as a result of expenditure on new 
projects (such as the Patient-Reported Outcomes 
Measures) which was fully funded by external sources. 
Employment costs increased by $294,000 compared 
to the previous year, mainly due to new positions 
created to enable new projects to be undertaken.
There were no other significant variations in expenses.

MEMBERSHIP

There was a net increase in member numbers at 
30 June 2018 of 51, with a total membership of 
1762, compared to 1711 at 30 June 2017. Member-
subscription income for the 2017/18 year, including 
branch membership, was $1,768,130, compared 
to $1,684,169 for 2016/17, comprised of CPI price 
increase and the increase in numbers.

MEMBERS’ EQUITY

Members’ funds at 30 June 2018 were $17,123,609, 
compared to $16,644,358 at 30 June 2017, an 
increase of $479,251 (the surplus for the year). As 
in previous years, the financial statements are 
issued by the directors as special purpose financial 
statements for the use of AOA’s members. The 
Audit and Risk Management Committee (ARMC) 
annually considers whether the issue of special 
purpose financial statements continues to be 
appropriate and makes a recommendation to the 
Board. The Board in December 2017 considered 
and agreed with a recommendation of the ARMC 
to issue special purpose financial statements for 
the year under review. Notwithstanding that the 

financial statements are issued as special purpose 
statements, the Board’s policy is that they should 
conform as closely as possible to general purpose 
financial statements and that they should comply 
with all relevant accounting standards.

GOVERNANCE

The Audit and Risk Management Committee met 
three times during the year ended 30 June 2018, 
chaired by Vice-President David Martin. The other 
members of the Committee are Andrew Ellis 
(Second Vice-President), Maurizio Damiani (General 
Director/Treasurer), and Nathan Patrick (Independent 
Member). At each meeting the Committee reviews 
financial matters, risk management and investment 
management with AOA’s management and auditor. 
The directors express their appreciation to Nathan 
Patrick, who provides his expertise as independent 
member to the ARMC on a pro bono basis. AOA’s 
management team meets twice yearly to review the 
risk management system and to determine whether 
changes should be recommended to the Board and 
the ARMC. The risk management system operated by 
AOA has been described by external parties as being 
of world-best-practice standard. 

Since the decision of the Board in 2012 to invest 
in the development of its training program and to 
fund the project from its investment corpus, it is 
pleasing to be able to report that approximately 
$3.7M (including capital expenditure) has been 
spent on the AOA 21 Project, and in that time 
funds invested have grown by $1.3M. It has not 
been necessary to make a call on the corpus, and 
members’ funds have continued to grow during 
this period. AOA continues to be recognised both 
locally and internationally for the transformation that 
is occurring in its training program.

The risk management system 
operated by AOA has been described 
by external parties as being of world-
best-practice standard. 
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Training activities
$1,714,197

Scientific meetings  
and conferences

$4,317,872

Grants and donations
$2,379,000

Finance revenue
$520,974 

Members’ subscriptions
$1,768,130

Other
$1,348,945

Scientific meetings  
and conferences

$3,236,293

Administration
$563,373

Grants
$291,643

AOANJRR
$3,229,493

Travel
$569,636

AOA 21
$468,423

Employment
$2,903,734

Other
$759,836

REVENUE

EXPENSES

REVENUE AND EXPENSES
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For year end 30 June 2018

FINANCIAL REPORT
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Your directors present this report on Australian Orthopaedic Association Limited for the financial year ended 
30 June 2018.

DIRECTORS 
The names of each person who has been a director during the year and to the date of this report are:

DIRECTOR TITLE* APPOINTED/RESIGNED

I W Incoll President Resigned 11/10/2017

L P Malisano President Appointed 14/10/2015

D K Martin
First Vice-President
Chair of Audit and Risk Management Committee

Appointed 10/10/2012

A M Ellis Second Vice-President Appointed 10/10/2011

A D Beischer Branch Director, VIC Resigned 11/10/2017

D Collopy Branch Director, WA Resigned 11/10/2017

M Damiani General Director/Treasurer Appointed 12/10/2016

B R Halliday Branch Director, QLD Resigned 11/10/2017

I A Harris Scientific Secretary Appointed 14/10/2015

M A Johnson Chair of Professional Development and Standards Resigned 11/10/2017

N Jorgensen
President of AORA  
(Australian Orthopaedic Registrars Association)

Resigned 11/10/2017

O Khorshid Chair of Education and Training Appointed 14/10/2015

M Lee President of AORA Appointed 11/10/2017

E T Mah Branch Director, SA Resigned 11/10/2017

G P Marquis Branch Director, TAS Resigned 11/10/2017

C N Morrey General Director Appointed 14/10/2015

T P Musgrove Branch Director, NSW Resigned 11/10/2017

M Pirpiris State Chair Director Appointed 11/10/2017

C N Whitewood Chair of Professional Development and Standards Appointed 11/10/2017

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated.
*Title as at 30 June 2018 or upon resignation.

DIRECTORS’ QUALIFICATIONS
Each director is an orthopaedic surgeon. 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND COMPANY SECRETARY
A R Cosenza BCom, MCom, MBA (IMD), FCPA, FAICD, FFinsia

DIRECTORS' REPORT
For the year ended 30 June 2018
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the company during the year was to give effect to the company’s objectives 
described below.

The company’s objectives are to:

a. Foster and maintain the highest standard of surgical practice and ethics in orthopaedic surgery;

b. Advance the practice of orthopaedic surgery;

c. Promote research into musculoskeletal conditions;

d. Provide postgraduate education in orthopaedic surgery and, as necessary, accreditation in orthopaedic 
surgery;

e. Support orthopaedic humanitarian initiatives in Australia and overseas;

f. Foster scientific interchange between orthopaedic surgeons; and

g. Act as an authority and adviser in relation to musculoskeletal conditions and orthopaedic surgery.

STRATEGIES

To achieve these objectives, the company has adopted a strategy of requiring that all proposals presented 
for Board approval include statements describing how the proposals comply with and advance the 
company’s objectives.

KEY PERFORMANCE MEASURES

The company measures its own performance through the use of both quantitative and qualitative benchmarks. 
The benchmarks are used by the directors to assess the financial sustainability of the company and whether the 
company’s objectives are being met.

2018 2017

Service quality – measured by member satisfaction surveys 82% 84%

Number of trainee surgeons 239 240

Fellowship exam pass rates 58% 74%

Advocacy submissions to government bodies 5 7

Membership – total members 1,762 1,711

AOA member percentage of total Australian orthopaedic surgeons 98% 98%

Number of scientific meetings (completed or in planning) 60 50

Website visitors 83,487 85,311

LONG-TERM AND SHORT-TERM OBJECTIVES

OPERATING RESULTS
The surplus of the company amounted to $479,251 (2016-2017 surplus of $170,556).
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MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

During the financial year ten meetings of directors were held. Attendances by each director were as follows:

NUMBER ELIGIBLE  
TO ATTEND

NUMBER 
ATTENDED

I W Incoll 4 4

L P Malisano 10 10

D K Martin 10 9

A M Ellis 10 10

A D Beischer 4 4

D Collopy 4 3

M Damiani 10 10

B R Halliday 4 4

I A Harris 10 5

M A Johnson 4 4

NUMBER ELIGIBLE  
TO ATTEND

NUMBER 
ATTENDED

N Jorgensen 4 4

O Khorshid 10 6

M Lee 6 6

E T Mah 4 4

G P Marquis 4 2

C N Morrey 10 7

T P Musgrove 4 2

M Pirpiris 6 6

C N Whitewood 6 6

MEMBERS’ GUARANTEE

The company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited by guarantee. If the 
company is wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of $10 each 
towards meeting any outstanding obligations of the entity. At 30 June 2018, the total amount that members of the 
company are liable to contribute if the company is wound up is $17,620 (2017 $17,110).

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

The lead auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2018 can be found adjacent to this 
directors’ report.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors:

M Damiani 
Treasurer 

L P Malisano 
President and Chair
Dated this 4th day of September 2018
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Under section 60-40 of the  
To the directors of Australian Orthopaedic Association
I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief that during the year ended 30 June 2018 there have been no 
contraventions of:

i. the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and

ii. any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Keanu Arya 
Engagement Partner 
29 August 2018 

Stirling International 
Chartered Accountants 
Level 3, 225 Clarence Street 
Sydney, NSW 2000

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
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OPINION

In our opinion the financial report of Australian 
Orthopaedic Association for the year ended 30 June 
2018 is in accordance with the Australian Charities 
and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including: 

a. giving a true and fair view of Australian
Orthopaedic Association's financial position as at
30 June 2018 and of its performance for the year
then ended; and

b. complying with Australian Accounting Standards
to the extent described in Note 1.

The financial report of Australian Orthopaedic 
Association, which we have audited, comprises the 
following statements as at 30 June 2018 and for the 
year then ended: 

• Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income;

• Statement of Financial Position;

• Statement of Changes in Equity;

• Statement of Cash Flows;

• Notes to the financial statements, comprising a
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and
other explanatory information; and

• Directors’ Declaration.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing 
Standards, which incorporate the Australian Auditing 
Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Report section of 
our report. We are independent of Australian 
Orthopaedic Association in accordance with the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
Act 2012 and the relevant ethical requirements for 
financial report audits. These include the relevant 
independence requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 
110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants.  
We have also fulfilled our other responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code.

We confirm that the independence declaration 
required by the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012, which has been given to 
the directors of Australian Orthopaedic Association, 
would be in the same terms if given to the directors 
as at the time of this auditor’s report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention 
to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the 
basis of accounting. The financial report has been 
prepared for the purpose of fulfilling the directors’ 
financial reporting responsibilities under the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
Act 2012. As a result, the financial report may not be 
suitable for another purpose. 

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE 
FINANCIAL REPORT

The directors of Australian Orthopaedic Association are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view and have determined that the 
basis of preparation described in Note 1 to the financial 
report is appropriate to meet the requirements of the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
Act 2012 and is appropriate to meet the needs of the 
members. The directors’ responsibilities also include 
such internal control the directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view and is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are 
responsible for assessing Australian Orthopaedic 
Association’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing matters related to going concern as 
applicable and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to 
liquidate the company or to cease operations, or has 
no realistic alternative but to do so.  

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the members of Australian Orthopaedic Association
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

Stirling International 

Keanu Arya  
Engagement Partner  
Level 3, 225 Clarence Street, Sydney, NSW 2000 
4 September 2018
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The directors of the Australian Orthopaedic Association declare that in the directors' opinion:

1. The financial statements and notes set out below and on the following pages are in accordance with the
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, and

a. comply with the Australian Accounting Standards; and

b. give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of its performance for the year
ended on that date.

2. There are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they
become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with subsection 60.15(2) of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Regulation 2013. 

M Damiani 
Treasurer 

L P Malisano 
President and Chair
Dated this 4th day of September 2018

DIRECTORS' DECLARATION
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Note 2018 2017
 $  $

Revenue 2 12,049,118 10,476,509

Total revenue 12,049,118 10,476,509

Expenses
Employment 3(a) 2,903,734 2,609,901

Scientific meetings and conferences 3,236,293 2,420,264

Administration 563,373 569,126

Advertising and promotion 59,627 63.731

Depreciation and amortisation  3(b) 166,670 139,117

Grants  291,643 258,512

Occupancy 234,437 219,429

Prizes, fellowships and awards 24,693 29,108

Professional services  3(c) 112,969 134,957

Project expenditures - AOANJRR 3,229,493 2,682,935

Project expenditures - AOA 21 468,423 522,380

Travel and accommodation 569,636 562,069

Finance costs 28,526 26,068

Other  132,914 232,516

Total expenses 12,022,431 10,470,113

Surplus for the year before income tax 26,687 6,396

Income tax expense – –

Surplus for the year 26,687 6,396

Other comprehensive income:
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss 
when specific conditions are met
Increment on value of investments 452,564 164,160

Total other comprehensive income for the year 452,564 164,160

Total comprehensive income attributable to  
members of the company 479,251 170,556

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS  
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2018
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Note 2018 2017
  $   $

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4 6,135,969 5,073,621

Accounts receivable and other debtors 5 3,438,242 4,014,554

Financial assets 7 932,876 1,872,834

Other current assets 6 683,193 706,350

Total current assets 11,190,280 11,667,359

Non-current assets
Financial assets 7 12,014,308 10,206,259

Property, plant and equipment 8 190,200 247,145

Intangibles 9 431,638 318,067

Total non-current assets 12,636,146 10,771,471
Total assets 23,826,426 22,438,830

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and other payables 10 6,342,579 5,517,572

Employee provisions 11 199,885 163,768

Total current liabilities 6,542,464 5,681,340

Non-current liabilities
Provisions 11 160,353 113,132

Total non-current liabilities 160,353 113,132
Total liabilities 6,702,817 5,794,472
Net assets 17,123,609 16,644,358

Equity
Retained surplus 17,123,609 16,644,358

Total equity 17,123,609 16,644,358
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 30 June 2018
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  $

Balance at 1 July 2016 16,473,802

Comprehensive income
Surplus for the year 6,396 

Other comprehensive income 164,160

Total comprehensive income 170,556
Balance at 30 June 2017  16,644,358 

Comprehensive income
Surplus for the year 26,687

Other comprehensive income 452,564

Total comprehensive income 479,251
Balance at 30 June 2018 17,123,609
The accompanying Notes form part of these financial statements

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2018
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Note 2018 2017
  $   $

Cash flow from operating activities
Receipts from:

Members’ subcriptions 1,766,012 1,712,071

Training activities 1,659,162 1,679,110

Grants and donations 3,227,931 2,145,641

Scientific meetings and conferences 4,565,298 3,228,086

Investment income 505,562 634,809

Other income 1,457,200 957,432

Net goods and services tax received/(paid) (99,000) 78,902

Payments to suppliers and employees (11,380,952) (10,715,046)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 12 1,701,213 (278,995)

Cash flows from investing activities
Payment for plant and equipment 8 (10,913) (5,535)

Payments for intangibles 9 (212,426) (225,300)

Investment in managed funds (415,526) (467,631)

Net cash used in investing activities (638,865) (698,466)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 1,062,348 (977,461)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 5,073,621 6,051,082

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 4 6,135,969 5,073,621
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2018
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The financial statements cover Australian Orthopaedic Association Limited as an entity. Australian Orthopaedic 
Association is a company limited by guarantee, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the basis that the company is a non-reporting entity 
because there are no users who are dependent on its general purpose financial statements. These financial 
statements are therefore special purpose financial statements that have been prepared in order to meet the 
requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 under the reduced disclosure 
regime. The association is a not-for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting 
Standards. 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the mandatory Australian Accounting 
Standards applicable to entities reporting under the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
Act 2012 and the significant accounting policies disclosed below, which the directors have determined are 
appropriate to meet the needs of members. Such accounting policies are consistent with those of previous 
periods unless stated otherwise. 

The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis and 
are based on historical costs unless otherwise stated in the notes. Material accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless stated 
otherwise. The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar. 

The financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018 were approved and authorised for issue by the 
directors of the company on 4 September 2018.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2018

General information and statement of compliance

NOTE 1  
SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The significant accounting policies that have been 
used in the preparation of these financial statements 
are summarised below. 

The financial statements have been prepared using 
the measurement bases specified by Australian 
Accounting Standards for each type of asset, liability, 
income and expense. The measurement bases are 
more fully described in the accounting policies below.

a.  Revenue 
Revenue comprises revenue from government 
grants, membership, subscriptions, training fee 
and income from meetings. Breakdown in revenue 
is shown in Note 2. 
 
 

Government grant 
Non-reciprocal grant revenue is recognised in the 
profit or loss when the entity obtains control of the 
grant and it is probable that the economic benefits 
gained from the grant will flow to the entity and 
the amount of the grant can be measured reliably.  
 
If conditions are attached to the grant that must 
be satisfied before it is eligible to receive the 
contribution, the recognition of the grant as revenue 
will be deferred until those conditions are satisfied.  
 
When grant revenue is received whereby the entity 
incurs an obligation to deliver economic value 
directly back to the contributor, this is considered 
a reciprocal transaction and the grant revenue is 
recognised in the statement of financial position as 
a liability until the service has been delivered to the 
contributor, otherwise the grant is recognised as 
income on receipt.  
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Contribution from members  
Membership fees revenue is recognised when the 
right to receive the revenue has been established. 

When training fees are received whereby the entity 
incurs an obligation to deliver economic value 
directly to the trainee, this is considered a reciprocal 
transaction and the training revenue is recognised in 
the statement of financial position as a liability until 
the service has been delivered to the trainee.  

Donations and bequests   
Donations and bequests are recognised as 
revenue when received.  

Interest and dividend 
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis 
using the effective interest method. Dividend 
income is recognised at the time the right to 
receive payment is established.  

Revenue from the rendering of a service is 
recognised upon the delivery of the service to the 
members.  

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods 
and services tax.

b.  Property, plant and equipment

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost
basis less depreciation and any impairment losses.

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is 
reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not 
in excess of the recoverable amount from these 
assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on 
the basis of the expected net cash flows that will 
be received from the assets’ employment and 
subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows 
have been discounted to their present values in 
determining recoverable amounts. 

In the event the carrying amount of plant and 
equipment is greater than the recoverable amount, 
the carrying amount is written down immediately 

to the estimated recoverable amount. A formal 
assessment of recoverable amount is made when 
impairment indicators are present (refer to Note 
1(d) for details of impairment). 

Plant and equipment that have been contributed at 
no cost, or for nominal cost, are recognised at the 
fair value of the asset at the date it is acquired. 

Depreciation 
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets 
including buildings and capitalised lease assets, 
but excluding freehold land, is depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life to 
the entity commencing from the time the asset 
is held ready for use. Leasehold improvements 
are depreciated over the shorter of either the 
unexpired period of the lease or the estimated 
useful lives of the improvements.  

The depreciation rates used for each class of 
depreciable assets are:  

Class of fixed asset    Depreciation rate
Furniture, fixtures and fittings    20% - 40% 
Plant and equipment    20% - 40% 
Library     20% - 25% 
Leasehold improvements    20% 
Intangibles     20% - 40% 

The assets' residual values and useful lives are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end 
of each reporting period.  

An asset’s carrying amount is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount.   

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. 
These gains or losses are recognised in profit 
or loss in the period in which they arise. When 
revalued assets are sold, amounts included in 
the revaluation surplus relating to that asset are 
transferred to retained earnings.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED...
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c.  Financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are 
recognised when the entity becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions to the instrument. For 
financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that 
the company commits itself to either purchase or 
sell the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted). 

Financial instruments are initially measured at 
fair value plus transaction costs except where 
the instrument is classified “at fair value through 
profit or loss”, in which case transaction costs are 
expensed to profit or loss immediately. 

Classification and subsequent measurement 
Financial instruments are subsequently measured 
at fair value, amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, or cost. Where available, quoted 
prices in an active market are used to determine 
fair value. In other circumstances, valuation 
techniques are adopted. 

Amortised cost is calculated as the amount at 
which the financial asset or financial liability is 
measured at initial recognition less principal 
repayments and any reduction for impairment, 
and adjusted for any cumulative amortisation of 
the difference between that initial amount and 
the maturity amount calculated using the effective 
interest method. 

The effective interest method is used to allocate 
interest income or interest expense over the 
relevant period and is equivalent to the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
or receipts (including fees, transaction costs and 
other premiums or discounts) through the expected 
life (or when this cannot be reliably predicted, the 
contractual term) of the financial instrument to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial 
liability. Revisions to expected future net cash 
flows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying 
amount with a consequential recognition of an 
income or expense item in profit or loss. 

Fair value is the price the company would receive 
to sell an asset or would have to pay to transfer 

a liability in an orderly (ie unforced) transaction 
between independent, knowledgeable and willing 
market participants at the measurement date. Fair 
value is determined based on current bid prices 
for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques 
are applied to determine the fair value for all 
unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length 
transactions, reference to similar instruments and 
option pricing models. 

(i)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets are classified at “fair value 
through profit or loss” when they are held for 
trading for the purpose of short-term profit 
taking, derivatives not held for hedging purposes, 
or when they are designated as such to avoid an 
accounting mismatch or to enable performance 
evaluation where a group of financial assets is 
managed by key management personnel on a 
fair-value basis in accordance with a documented 
risk management or investment strategy. Such 
assets are subsequently measured at fair value 
with changes in carrying amount being included 
in profit or loss. 

(ii)  Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Gains or 
losses are recognised in profit or loss through the 
amortisation process and when the financial asset 
is derecognised. 

(iii)  Held-to-maturity investments 
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative 
financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed 
or determinable payments, and it is the company’s 
intention to hold these investments to maturity. 
They are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss 
through the amortisation process and when the 
financial asset is derecognised. 

(iv)  Available-for-sale investments 
Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative 
financial assets that are either not capable of being 
classified into other categories of financial assets 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED...
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due to their nature or they are designated as such 
by management. They comprise investments in 
the equity of other entities where there is neither a 
fixed maturity nor fixed or determinable payments.  

They are subsequently measured at fair value with 
any re-measurements other than impairment losses 
and foreign exchange gains and losses recognised 
in other comprehensive income. When the financial 
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss 
pertaining to that asset previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income is reclassified into 
profit or loss. 

Available-for-sale financial assets are classified as 
non-current assets when they are not expected 
to be sold within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. All other available-for-sale 
financial assets are classified as current assets.   

Impairment  
At the end of each reporting period, the company 
assesses whether there is objective evidence that 
a financial asset has been impaired. A financial 
asset is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, 
there is objective evidence of impairment as a 
result of one or more events (a “loss event”) 
having occurred that has an impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets. 

In the case of available-for-sale financial assets, 
a significant or prolonged decline in the market 
value of the instrument is considered to constitute 
a loss event. Impairment losses are recognised in 
profit or loss immediately. Also, any cumulative 
decline in fair value previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified into profit or 
loss at this point. 

In the case of financial assets carried at amortised 
cost, loss events may include: indications 
that the debtors or a group of debtors are 
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default 
or delinquency in interest or principal payments; 
indications that they will enter bankruptcy or other 
financial reorganisation; and changes in arrears or 
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.  

For financial assets carried at amortised cost 
(including loans and receivables), a separate 

allowance account is used to reduce the carrying 
amount of financial assets impaired by credit 
losses. After having taken all possible measures 
of recovery, if the management establishes that 
the carrying amount cannot be recovered by any 
means, at that point the written-off amounts are 
charged to the allowance account or the carrying 
amount of impaired financial assets is reduced 
directly if no impairment amount was previously 
recognised in the allowance accounts.  

When the terms of financial assets that would 
otherwise have been past due or impaired have 
been renegotiated, the company recognises the 
impairment for such financial assets by taking into 
account the original terms as if the terms have not 
been renegotiated so that the loss events that have 
occurred are duly considered. 

Derecognition  
Financial assets are derecognised where the 
contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expire or 
the asset is transferred to another party whereby 
the entity no longer has any significant continuing 
involvement in the risks and benefits associated 
with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised 
where the related obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between 
the carrying amount of the financial liability, which 
is extinguished or transferred to another party, and 
the fair value of consideration paid, including the 
transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is 
recognised in profit or loss.

d.  Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the 
association reviews the carrying amounts of its 
tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets 
have been impaired. If such an indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset, being the 
higher of the asset’s fair amount less costs to 
sell and value in use, is compared to the asset’s 
carrying amount. Any excess of the asset’s carrying 
amount over its recoverable amount is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED...
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Where the future economic benefits of the asset are 
not primarily dependent upon on the asset’s ability 
to generate net cash inflows and when the entity 
would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining 
future economic benefits, value in use is determined 
as the depreciated replacement cost of an asset.  

Where it is not possible to estimate the 
recoverable amount of a class of asset, the entity 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.  

Where an impairment loss on a revalued asset is 
identified, this is debited against the revaluation 
surplus in respect of the same class of asset to the 
extent that the impairment loss does not exceed 
the amount in the revaluation surplus for that same 
class of asset.

e.  Employee provisions

Short-term employee provisions 
Provision is made for the company’s obligation 
for short-term employee benefits. Short-term 
employee benefits are benefits (other than 
termination benefits) that are expected to 
be settled wholly before 12 months after the 
end of the annual reporting period in which 
the employees render the related service, 
including wages, salaries and sick leave. Short-
term employee benefits are measured at the 
(undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when 
the obligation is settled.  

The company’s obligations for short-term 
employee benefits such as wages, salaries and 
sick leave are recognised as a part of accounts 
payable and other payables in the statement of 
financial position.   

Contributions are made by the entity to an 
employee superannuation fund and are charged 
as expenses when incurred. 

Other long-term employee provisions  
Provision is made for employees’ long service 
leave and annual leave entitlements not expected 
to be settled wholly within 12 months after the 
end of the annual reporting period in which the 
employees render the related service. Other 

long-term employee benefits are measured 
at the present value of the expected future 
payments to be made to employees. Expected 
future payments incorporate anticipated future 
wage and salary levels, durations of service and 
employee departures, and are discounted at rates 
determined by reference to market yields at the 
end of the reporting period on government bonds 
that have maturity dates that approximate the 
terms of the obligations. Upon the remeasurement 
of obligations for other long-term employee 
benefits, the net change in the obligation is 
recognised in profit or loss as part of employee 
benefits expense.   

The company’s obligations for long-term employee 
benefits are presented as non-current employee 
provisions in its statement of financial position, 
except where the company does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 
12 months after the end of the reporting period, 
in which case the obligations are presented as 
current provisions.

f.  Cash on hand

Cash on hand equivalents includes cash on hand, 
deposits held at-call with banks, other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities 
of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. 
Bank overdrafts are shown within short-term 
borrowings in current liabilities on the statement 
of financial position.

g.  Accounts receivable and other debtors

Accounts receivable and other debtors include 
amounts due from members and any outstanding 
grant receipts. Receivables expected to be collected 
within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 
are classified as current assets. All other receivables 
are classified as non-current assets.

h.  Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net 
of the amount of GST, except where the amount 
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the 
Australian Taxation Office (ATO).  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED...
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Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of 
the amount of GST receivable or payable. The 
net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, the ATO is included with other receivables or 
payables in the statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. 
The GST components of cash flows arising 
from investing or financing activities which are 
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are 
presented as operating cash flows included in 
receipts from customers or payments to suppliers.

i.  Income t ax

No provision for income tax has been raised as the
entity is exempt from income tax under Div 50 of
the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

j.  Intangibles

Software
Software is recorded at cost. It has a finite life and
is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any impairment losses. Software has an
estimated useful life of between one and three
years. It is assessed annually for impairment.

k.  Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the entity has a
legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past
events, for which it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will result and that outflow
can be reliably measured. Provisions recognised
represent the best estimate of the amounts
required to settle the obligation at the end of the
reporting period.

l.  evitarapmoC figures

Where required by Accounting Standards,
comparative figures have been adjusted to
conform with changes in presentation for the
current financial year.

Where the company retrospectively applies
an accounting policy, makes a retrospective
restatement or reclassifies items in its financial

statements, a third statement of financial position 
as at the beginning of the preceding period in 
addition to the minimum comparative financial 
statements must be presented.

m.  Accounts payable and other payable

Trade and other payables represent the liability
outstanding at the end of the reporting period
for goods and services received by the company
during the reporting period that remain unpaid.
The balance is recognised as a current liability with
the amount being normally paid within 30 days of
recognition of the liability.

n.  Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The directors evaluate estimates and judgements
incorporated into the financial statements based
on historical knowledge and best available current
information. Estimates assume a reasonable
expectation of future events and are based on
current trends and economic data, obtained both
externally and within the company.

Key estimates
Impairment

The company assesses impairment at the end of
each reporting period by evaluating conditions
and events specific to the company that may be
indicative of impairment triggers.

Key judgements

For the purpose of measurement, AASB 119
E  defines obligations for short-
term employee benefits as obligations expected
to be settled wholly before 12 months after the
end of the annual reporting period in which
the employees render the related services. The
company expects most employees will take their
annual leave entitlements within 24 months of the
reporting period in which they were earned, but
this will not have a material impact on the amounts
recognised in respect of obligations for employees’
leave entitlements.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED...
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o.  Economic dependence

The Australian Orthopaedic Association is not
dependent on external agencies or government
for the majority of its revenue used to operate
the business.

p.  New Accounting Standards for application in 
future periods

The AASB has issued a number of new and
amended Accounting Standards that have
mandatory application dates for future
accounting periods, some of which are relevant
to the company. The company has decided not
to early adopt any of the new and amended
pronouncements. The company’s assessment of
the new and amended pronouncements that are
relevant to the company but applicable in future
reporting periods is set out below.

– AASB 9 Financial Instruments
(December 2014 and associated Amending 
Standards applicable for annual reporting periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2018).  

These standards will be applicable retrospectively 
(subject to the provisions on hedge accounting 
outlined below) and include revised requirements 
for the classification and measurement of 
financial instruments, revised recognition 
and de-recognition requirements for financial 
instruments and simplified requirements for 
hedge accounting. The key changes that may 
affect the company on initial application of AASB 9 
and associated Amending Standards include 
certain simplification to the classification of 
financial assets, simplification to the accounting of 
embedded derivatives, upfront accounting for 
expected credit loss and the irrevocable election 
to recognise gains and losses in investments in 
equity instruments that are not held for trading 
in other comprehensive income. AASB 9 also 
introduces a new model for hedge accounting that 
will allow greater flexibility in the ability to hedge 
risk particularly with respect to the hedging of 
non-financial items. Should the company elect to 
change its hedge accounting policies in line with 
the new hedge accounting requirements of AASB 

9, the application of such accounting would be 
largely prospective. 

The directors have determined to comply with 
AASB 9 for the year ending 30 June 2019 and 
consider that this will have minimal impact on the 
company’s financial statements. 

– AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
This standard is applicable to annual reporting 
periods of not-for-profit entities beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019. 

The standard provides a single standard for revenue 
recognition. The core principle of the standard is 
that an entity will recognise revenue to depict the 
transfer of promised goods or services to customers 
in an amount that reflects the consideration to 
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange 
for those goods or services. The standard will 
require: contracts (either written, verbal or implied) 
to be identified, together with the separate 
performance obligations within the contract; 
determine the transaction price, adjusted for the 
time value of money excluding credit risk; allocation 
of the transaction price to the separate performance 
obligations on a basis of relative stand-alone selling 
price of each distinct good or service, or estimation 
approach if no distinct observable prices exist; and 
recognition of revenue when each performance 
obligation is satisfied. Credit risk will be presented 
separately as an expense rather than adjusted to 
revenue. For goods, the performance obligation 
would be satisfied when the customer obtains 
control of the goods. For services, the performance 
obligation is satisfied when the service has been 
provided, typically for promises to transfer services 
to customers. For performance obligations satisfied 
over time, an entity would select an appropriate 
measure of progress to determine how much 
revenue should be recognised as the performance 
obligation is satisfied. Contracts with customers will 
be presented in an entity's statement of financial 
position as a contract liability, a contract asset, or a 
receivable, depending on the relationship between 
the entity's performance and the customer's 
payment. Sufficient quantitative and qualitative 
disclosure is required to enable users to understand 
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the contracts with customers; the significant 
judgments made in applying the guidance to those 
contracts; and any assets recognised from the costs 
to obtain or fulfil a contract with a customer. The 
company will adopt this standard from 1 July 2019 
and the impact of its adoption is being assessed. 

– AASB 16 Leases
(applicable to annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2019) 

When effective, this Standard will replace the 
current accounting requirements applicable 
to leases in AASB 117 Leases and related 
Interpretations. AASB 16 introduces a single lessee 
accounting model that eliminates the requirement 
for leases to be classified as operating or finance 
leases. 

The main changes introduced by the new Standard 
include: 
-  recognition of a right-to-use asset and liability for 

all leases (excluding short-term leases with less 
than 12 months of tenure and leases relating to 
low-value assets);

   -  depreciation of right-to-use assets in line with 

AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment in profit 
or loss and unwinding of the liability in principal 
and interest components;

   -  variable lease payments that depend on an index 
or a rate are included in the initial measurement 
of the lease liability using the index or rate at the 
commencement date;

   -  by applying a practical expedient, a lessee 
is permitted to elect not to separate non-
lease components and instead account for all 
components as a lease; and

   -  additional disclosure requirements. 

The company will adopt this standard from 1 
July 2019 and the impact of its adoption is being 
assessed. 

– AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities
(applicable to annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2019) 

When effective, this Standard supersedes most 
of income recognition requirements, previously in 
AASB 1004 Contributions. 

This Standard applies to: 

-  transactions where consideration to acquire an 
asset is significantly less than fair value, principally 
to enable a not-for-profit entity to further its 
objectives; and

- receipt of volunteer services. 

On initial recognition of an asset an entity must 
recognise any related contributions by owners, 
increases in liabilities, decreases in assets and 
revenue in accordance with other Australian 
Accounting Standards. 

Entities must recognise the difference between 
the fair value of the asset and any related amounts 
as income in the profit and loss. 

Volunteer services are recognised if: 

-  they would have been purchased if not provided 
voluntarily; and

-  the fair value of those services can be measured 
reliably.

AASB 1058 is to be applied either:

a)  retrospectively with adjustments to
comparatives; or

b)  retrospectively with the cumulative effect of
initial adjustments recognised in retained
earnings on the ‘date of initial application’
with no restatement of comparatives.

The company will adopt this standard from 1 
July 2019 and the impact of its adoption is being 
assessed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED...

2018 2017
  $   $

NOTE 2   REVENUE
Revenue and other income

Members' subscriptions 1,768,130 1,684,169

Training activities 1,714,197 1,662,817

Scientific meetings and conferences 4,317,872 3,200,022

Commonwealth funding - AOA National Joint Replacement Registry 2,379,000 2,286,000

Interest and dividend 520,974 648,731

Other (see below) 1,348,945 994,770

12,049,118 10,476,509

Other revenue (see above)
Accredited fellowships 27,977 30,909

Administration and secretarial fees 39,600 39,600

Advertising 27,678 18,634

Advertising - AOA Bulletin 63,778 106,362

Fellowships administration 222,289 228,830

Royalties 9,441 11,515

Ad hoc reports - AOANJRR 866,464 315,350

Governance Rebate 76,629 75,125

Payroll Tax Refund 7,341 163,452

eProceedings 1,749 4,993

Contracted services 5,999 –

1,348,945 994,770

NOTE 3   EXPENSES
a)  Employment

Wages and salaries 2,593,543 2,414,021

Superannuation - defined contribution plans 222,540 207,973

Employee benefit provisions 80,687 22,231

Other benefits 6,964 (34,324)

2,903,734 2,609,901
b)  Depreciation and amortisation

Building improvements 60,359 60,359

Computer equipment 7,274 7,306

Furniture and fittings 40 50

Plant and equipment 142 189

Intangibles 98,855 71,213

166,670 139,117
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2018 2017
  $   $

c) Professional services
Remuneration of auditors

for auditing services 24,000 23,500

Consulting fees 25,067 59,648

Legal fees 63,902 51,809

112,969 134,957

NOTE 4   CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash on hand 500 500

Cash at bank 3,319,120 2,004,887

Term deposits 2,816,349 3,068,234

6,135,969 5,073,621
Term deposits are with banks at yields of 2.4% to 2.5%.

NOTE 5   ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER DEBTORS
Accounts receivable 1,675,139 2,272,803

Commonwealth Department of Health - AOANJRR grant funding 1,742,400 1,707,933

Interest receivable 20,703 33,818

3,438,242 4,014,554

NOTE 6   OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Prepaid expenses 441,982 313,268

Deposits paid for scientific meetings 241,211 393,082

683,193 706,350

NOTE 7   FINANCIAL ASSETS
Short-term financial assets
Cash held in managed funds 357,876 323,834

Fixed-term deposits 575,000 1,549,000

932,876 1,872,834

Long-term financial assets
Fixed-term deposits 1,457,600 1,741,600

Quoted securities at fair value 10,556,708 8,464,659

12,014,308 10,206,259

Total financial assets 12,947,184 12,079,093

The company's financial assets comprise short-term and long-term deposits and quoted securities. The long-term deposits have fixed 
interest rates between 3.95% and 4.40% and mature in 2019. The securities are stated at fair value and denominated in Australian dollars. 
These financial assets are managed by Centric Wealth Advisers Limited.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED...
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2018 2017
  $   $

NOTE 8   PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
Improvements

At cost 301,309 301,309

Less accumulated amortisation (160,257) (99,898)

141,052 201,411
Plant and equipment

At cost 217,634 206,721

Less accumulated depreciation (168,486) (160,987)

49,148 45,734
Total property, plant and equipment 190,200 247,145

Movements in carrying amount
Improvements Plant and  

equipment
Total

$ $ $

2017
Balance at the beginning of the year 261,770 47,744 309,514

Additions at cost – 5,535 5,535

Depreciation expense (60,359) (7,545) (67,904)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 201,411 45,734 247,145
2018
Balance at the beginning of the year 201,411 45,734 247,145

Additions at cost – 10,913 10,913

Depreciation expense (60,359) (7,499) (67,858)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 141,052 49,148 190,200

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED...

2018 2017
  $   $

NOTE 9   INTANGIBLES
Intangibles – AOA 21

At cost 545,546 333,120

Less accumulated amortsiation (158,935) (82,250)

386,611 250,870
Intangibles – other

At cost 305,869 305,869

Less accumulated amortisation (260,842) (238,672)

45,027 67,197
Total intangibles 431,638 318,067
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2018 2017
  $   $

NOTE 10   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Accounts payable and accruals 1,583,932 1,206,234

Deferred income 2,191,885 1,764,542

Training fees in advance 667,937 613,200

Commonwealth Government billed in advance 1,584,000 1,602,667

Goods and services tax payable 186,957 259,415

Payroll payables 95,747 92,684

Payables to associated entities 32,121 (21,170)

6,342,579 5,517,572

NOTE 11   EMPLOYEE PROVISIONS
Current – annual leave entitlement 199,885 163,768

Non-Current – long service leave entitlement 160,353 113,132

360,238 276,900

The current portion of this provision includes the total amount accrued for annual leave entitlements and the 
amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have vested due to employees having completed 
the required period of service. Based on past experience, the company does not expect the full amount of 
annual leave or long service leave balances classified as current liabilities to be settled within the next 12 
months. However, these amounts must be classified as current liabilities since the company does not have an 
unconditional right to defer the settlement of these amounts in the event employees wish to use their leave 
entitlement.

The non-current portion for this provision includes amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that 
have not yet vested in relation to those employees who have not yet completed the required period of service.

AOA 21 Other intangibles
Total

$ $ $

2017
Balance at the beginning of the year 84,522 79,458 163,980

Additions at cost 208,750 16,550 225,300

Depreciation expense (42,402) (28,811) (71,213)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 250,870 67,197 318,067
2018
Balance at the beginning of the year 250,870 67,197 318,067

Additions at cost 212,426 – 212,426

Depreciation expense (76,685) (22,170) (98,855)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 386,611 45,027 431,638

Movements in carrying amount

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED...
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NOTE 15 MEMBERS’ GUARANTEE
The company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited by guarantee. If the com-
pany is wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of $10 towards 
meeting any outstanding obligations of the entity. At 30 June 2018, the number of members was 1762 (2017- 1711).

2018 2017
  $   $

NOTE 12  CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Reconciliation of cash flow from operating activities with net surplus 479,251 170,556

Non cash flows in operating surplus -

Depreciation and amortisation expense 166,713 139,117

Provision for employee leave entitlements 83,337 10,827

Unrealised (gain) in managed funds (452,564) (164,160)

Changes in assets and liabilities

Decrease/(Increase) in accounts receivables and other debtors 576,312 (799,324)

Decrease in prepayments and deposits 23,157 73,207

Increase in accounts payables and other payables 825,007 290,782

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 1,701,213 (278,995)

NOTE 13  AOA CONFERENCE AND EVENT MANAGEMENT TRUST
The Association controls the AOA Conference and Event Management Trust, which is a unit trust responsible 
for organising and managing events. All of the surplus of the Trust has been distributed to the company and 
assets and liabilities of the Trust have been consolidated with those of the company. The financial position of 
the Trust at 30 June 2018 was as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents 4,070  25,209 

Accounts receivable and other receivables 500,652 540,652

Prepayments and deposits 454,811 526,974

Total assets 959,533 1,092,835
Accounts payable and other payables 959,523 1,092,825 

Total liabilities 959,523 1,092,825
Net assets 10 10
Settlement 10 10

 
NOTE 14  ASSOCIATION DETAILS
The registered office and principal place of business of Australian Orthopaedic Association Limited is  
Level 12, 45 Clarence Street, Sydney.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED...
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a) Market risk analysis  

The company is exposed to market risk through its use of financial instruments and specifically to interest rate 
risk and certain other prices, which result from both its operating and investing activities. 

  (i) Interest rate risk 

Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at the end of the reporting
period whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair value of fixed rate financial 
instruments. The company is also exposed to earnings volatility on floating rate instruments.

The financial instruments that expose the association to interest rate risk are limited to lease liabilities, listed shares, 
government and fixed interest securities, and cash on hand.

The company also manages interest rate risk by ensuring that, whenever possible, payables are paid within any 
pre-agreed credit terms.

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted interest rate for classes of financial assets 
and financial liabilities are set out below:

Financial assets and liabilities Note 2018 2017
$ $

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash on hand 4 6,135,969 5,073,621

Managed funds at market value 7 12,947,184 12,079,093

Account receivables and other receivables 5 3,438,242 4,014,554

Total financial assets 22,521,395 21,167,268
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Accounts payables and other payables 10 6,342,579 5,517,572

Total financial liabilities 6,342,579 5,517,572

NOTE 16 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
The following table shows the financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis at 30 June 2018 and 
30 June 2017.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED...

Note Weighted 
average 
interest 

rate

Floating 
interest 

rate

Fixed interest 
maturing in

Non-
interest 
bearing

Total

1 year 
or less

1 to 5 
years

2018 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash on hand 4 1.37% 3,320 2,816 - - 6,136

Investments 7 3.60% 12,947 - - - 12,947

Receivables 5 - - - 3,438 3,438

Total 16,267 2,816 - 3,438 22,521
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 10 - - - - 6,343 6,343

Total - - - 6,343 6,343
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(ii) Other price risk 

Other price risk relates to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk) of 
securities held.

The company is exposed to other price risk on investments held for trading or for medium to longer terms. 
Such risk is managed through diversification of investments across industries and geographical locations and
management has been delegated to a fund manager, Centric Wealth.

Centric Wealth invests the company’s funds through other managed funds spread through a range of sectors
in order to minimise risk.

b) Liquidity risk

The company manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows.

c) Credit risk

The company does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors under 
financial instruments entered into by the company.

The company does not have any derivative financial instruments.

d) Price risk

The Company is not exposed to commodity price risk.

e) Fair value measurements

The company measures and recognises the following  assets at fair value on a recurring basis after initial recognition

The company does not subsequently measure any liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis, or any assets or liabilities 
at fair value on a non-recurring basis.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED...

Fair value hierarchy

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the fair value 
hierarchy, which categorises fair value measurements into one of three possible levels based on the lowest level 
that an input that is significant to the measurement can be categorised into, as follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Measurements based on quoted 
prices (unadjusted) in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities 
that the entity can access at the 
measurement date.

Measurements based on inputs 
other than quoted prices included 
in Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly.

Measurements based on 
unobservable inputs for the asset 
or liability. 

The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or more 
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market 
data. If all significant inputs required to measure fair value are observable, the asset or liability is included in Level 2. If 
one or more significant inputs are not based on observable market data, the asset or liability is included in Level 3. 
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NOTE 17 CREDIT RISK – RECEIVABLES AND OTHER DEBTORS
The company does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of receivables.

The following table details the company’s accounts receivable and other debtors exposed to credit risk (prior to 
collateral and other credit enhancements) with ageing analysis and impairment provided for thereon. Amounts 
are considered as “past due” when the debt has not been settled within the terms and conditions agreed 
between the company and the customer or counterparty to the transaction. Receivables that are past due are 
assessed for impairment by ascertaining solvency of the debtors and are provided for where there are specific 
circumstances indicating that the debt may not be fully repaid to the company. No provision has been made for 
doubtful debts.

The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms (as detailed in the table below) are considered 
to be of high credit quality. Overdue debts from members for membership fees are expected to be recovered 
in full. Overdue debts from sponsorship providers are not expected to be paid until immediately prior to the
event being sponsored and are expected to be recovered in full.

30 June 2018 30 June 2017
Note Level 1 Level 1

Recurring fair value measurements
Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Investments in managed funds 7 12,947,184 12,079,093

Total financial assets recognised at fair value 12,947,184 12,079,093

Valuation techniques
The company selects a valuation technique that is appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data is available to measure fair value. The availability of sufficient and relevant data primarily depends on 
the specific characteristics of the asset or liability being measured. The valuation technique selected by the 
company is consistent with the following valuation approach:

Market approach: valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information generated by market 
transactions for identical or similar assets or liabilities.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED...

Gross 
amount

Past 
due and 
impaired

Past due but not impaired  
(days overdue)

<30 31-60 61-90 >90
2018 $ $ $ $ $ $

Accounts Receivable members 755,788 - 539,600 - - 216,188

Events Sponsorship debtors 403,224 - 167,864 77,000 86,615 71,745

Other 2,279,230 - 2,179,272 45,467 3,171 51,320

Total 3,438,242 - 2,886,736 122,467 89,786 339,253
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NOTE 19 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The directors are not aware of any significant events since the end of the reporting period.

NOTE 18 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
2018 2017

Premises Equipment Premises Equipment
Payments due $ $ $ $

– not later than one year 240,536 13,781 221,845 13,781   

– later than one year and not later than five years 334,627 55,123 551,688 55,123

– later than five years - 13,781 - 27,562

Total 575,163 82,685 773,533 96,466

Leases are primarily over commercial premises. Lease rentals are determined in accordance with market 
conditions when leases are entered into or on rental review dates. There are no restrictions imposed on AOA by 
lease arrangements other than in respect of the specific premises being leased.

In July 2015, the company executed an agreement to re-lease the current office space with Perpetual Trustee 
Company Limited at 45 Clarence Street Sydney, Australia. A five-year lease was signed on the premises and is 
included in the lease commitment table above.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED...

2018 2017
  $   $

Short-term benefits 1,774,712 1,711,310

Post-employment benefits 360,079 308,636

Total 2,134,791 2,019,946

NOTE 21 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The company has a contingent liability of $143,354 in favour of Perpetual Trustee Company Limited in relation 
to a security guarantee.

NOTE 20 KEY MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES
The company's related parties include its key management personnel, including the Chief Executive Officer 
and other key management personnel.

Unless otherwise stated, none of the transactions incorporate special terms and conditions and no guarantees 
were given or received. Outstanding balances are usually settled in cash.
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